## DETERMINANTS OF MATERNAL CHILD HEALTH SERVICE QUALITY IN TIER THREE PUBLIC HEALTH FACILITIES, KISUMU COUNTY, KENYA

BY

VINCENT OKITOI IBWORO

# A THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN PUBLIC HEALTH

## SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

MASENO UNIVERSITY

©2023

#### **DECLARATION**

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University.

Signature.....

Date.....

# VINCENT OKITOI IBWORO PG/PHD/00028/2013

We confirm that the work reported in this thesis was carried out by the student under our supervision:

Signature \_\_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_\_

Dr. Bernard Guyah, (PhD)

School of Public Health and Community Development, Maseno University

Signature \_\_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_\_

Dr. Dickens Omondi, (PhD)

School of Health Sciences/Directorate of Research, Innovation and Partnerships, Jaramogi Oginga Odinga University of Science and Technology

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am very grateful to the Almighty God for the victory, love and preservation. My appreciation also goes to my supervisors Dr. Bernard Guyah and Dr. Dickens Omondi, Kisumu County Health Management Team, Sub- County Health Management Teams and healthcare workers of the tier three public health facilities for their support and cooperation. My acknowledgement also goes to Maseno University and my family.

# DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my wife Anne and my children Ivan, Vince and Michaella.

#### ABSTRACT

Compromised Maternal Child Health (MCH) service quality is increasingly being linked to failure to attain expected healthcare improvements in Low and Middle-Income Countries. Kenya's Free Maternity Services (FMS) (Linda Mama) initiative removed user fees for MCH services with the aim of increasing service uptake and improving MCH service quality. This led to increased patient load, as a result, overstretching health facilities resources. There were concerns of declining service quality and hence, the need to identify the determining factors. Service quality is complex but is conventionally considered in terms of structure (facility characteristics, equipment and human resources); process (provider-patient interaction) and outcomes (users' perspectives) dimensions. The study focused on tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County. Specifically, it assessed the mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality; healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality; healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality and healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality. Through analytical cross-sectional design, facility-level data were collected from a sample of 334 mothers, 81 healthcare workers using structured questionnaires and 7 Key Informant Interviews. Variable characteristics were summarized descriptively. The association of healthcare structural aspects and MCH service quality was assessed through Principal Component Analysis. About 52% of mothers were aged between 20 and 29 years, 71.9% were married and 64% had achieved post-primary education while about half lived below poverty line. Mothers of para 1 (aOR= 2.29, 95% CI=1.04-2.05, p-value= 0.040) or para 2 (aOR= 3.22, 95%CI=1.54-2.70, p-value=0.002); rural residence (aOR=2.24, 95%CI=1.05-2.79, p-value= 0.037) perceived services to be of quality. About half (49.4%) of healthcare workers were aged between 20 - 29 years. Of these, 46.3% were Nursing Officers of whom 57.5% were Diploma holders and 28.4% were university graduates. Being a university graduate (aOR= 21.29, 95%CI=1.15 - 2.16, p-value=0.04) and deployment in a department for six months (OR=7.22, 95%CI= 1.3-2.22, p-value=0.024) were healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality. Healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality were clinical examination (OR=11.33, 95%CI=2.55-3.35, p-value=0.001); laboratory malaria investigations (OR=3.21, 95%CI=1.71-2.03, p=value=<0.001); child immunization (OR=1.82, 95%CI=0.62-1.30, p-value=0.027); health education and mentorship (p-<0.001). Having the 5 listed staff cadres [aOR 2.16, CI=1.15-4.05 & p=0.016) was associated with MCH service quality. Facilities with antenatal ward (0.3189), Medical Officer (0.3189) and a suction machine (0.2867) had higher factor loading. This study result indicated older mothers had low perception of MCH service quality while those with low parity and residence of rural areas were more likely to report having received MCH service quality. Healthcare workers with Higher National Diploma (HND) were less likely to offer MCH service quality while being deployed in a department for 6 months was more associated with MCH service quality. Received Syphilis test was less associated with service quality. Having Medical Officer, Nursing Officer, MCH Nutritionist, Obstetrician/gynaecologist, Pharmaceutical Technologist) contributed more to MCH service quality as compared to physical structures and equipment. The study will help in designing and implementation of MCH programs and training of healthcare workers for improvement of MCH service quality in Kisumu County.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiii
DEDICATION iv
ABSTRACTv
TABLE OF CONTENTS vi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMSix
OPERATIONAL DEFINITIONS x
LIST OF TABLES xii
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF APPENDICES xiv
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background Information
1.2 Statement of the Problem
1.3 Objectives
1.3.1 Broad Objective
1.3.2 Specific Objectives
1.4 Research Questions
1.5 Justification of the Study10
1.6 Significance of the Study
1.7 Scope of the Study11
1.8 Study Limitations
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities
2.3 Healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities
2.4 Healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities
2.5 Healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities

2.6 Summary of Literature review	. 27
2.7 Conceptual Framework	. 28
CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY	. 30
3.1 Introduction	. 30
3.2 Study Area	. 30
3.3 Study Design	. 30
3.4 Target population	. 31
3.5 Study Population	. 31
3.6 Sample size Determination and Sampling Techniques	. 31
3.6.1 Sample size determination	. 31
3.6.2 Sampling procedures	. 32
3.6.3 Inclusion criteria	. 33
3.6.4 Exclusion criteria	. 34
3.7 Data Collection tools	. 34
3.7.1 Recruitment of research assistants	. 34
3.7.2 Training of research assistants	. 35
3.7.3. Reliability and Validity Test of the Instruments	. 35
3.7.4 Facility service quality assessment	. 36
3.7.5 Study variables	. 36
3.8 Data Analysis	. 39
3.9 Ethical Considerations	42
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	. 43
4.1 Introduction	. 43
4.2 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MC service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County	CH 43
4.3 Healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in the three public health facilities of Kisumu County	er 47
4.4 Healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in three public health facilities of Kisumu County	tier 51
4.5 Healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County	55
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION	. 61

5.1 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities, Kisumu County	L
5.2 Healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County	3
5.3 Healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County	1
5.4 Healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County	5
CHAPTER SIX: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND	
RECOMMENDATIONS	1
6.1 Summary of findings67	7
6.1.1 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities, Kisumu County	7
6.1.2 Healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County	7
6.1.3 Healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County	1 7
6.1.4 Healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County	3
6.2 Conclusions	3
6.3 Recommendation for programmatic and strategic actions	)
6.4 Recommendations for Future Studies71	
REFERENCES	2
APPENDICES 84	5
	,

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

aOR	Adjusted Odds Ratio
ANC	Ante Natal Clinic
AN Ward	Antenatal ward
CI	Confidence Interval
COR	Crude Odds Ratio
CRH	County Referral Hospital
DHIS2	District Health Information System
FBO	Faith Based Organizations
FP	Family Planning
IMR	Infant Mortality Rate
JOOTRH	Jaramogi Odinga Oginga Teaching and Referral Hospital
KDHS	Kenya Demographic Health Survey
KIHBS	Kenya Integrated Household Budget Survey
KII	Key Informant Interview
LMIC	Low- and Middle-Income Countries
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
MNCH	Maternal, Newborn and Child Health
МСН	Maternal Child Health
MMR	Maternal Mortality Rate
МОН	Ministry of Health
MUAC	Mid Upper Arm Circumference
OR	Odds Ratio
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PC	Principal Component
PN Ward	Post Natal ward
SCRH	Sub-County Referral Hospital
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
UTI	Urinary Tract Infection
URTI	Upper Respiratory Tract Infection
<b>Referral hospitals</b>	All Tier three public County and sub-County health facilities
RMNCAH	Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health

### **OPERATIONAL DEFINITIONS**

**Deployment place**: Department or section where the staff is attached.

**Education:** Level of formal training attended.

**Healthcare service delivery processes:** these are the healthcare service delivery procedures and practices towards the mother e.g., clinical and laboratory examination, health education, supplement provision etc.

**Healthcare structural aspects**: these are physical infrastructure, equipment and human resources for health at the health facility.

**Healthcare workers' characteristics:** these are healthcare workers demographic and environmental factors e.g., age, sex, level of education, patient workload, deployment area etc.

**Healthcare workers:** Medically trained staff offering health care services in the health facilities e.g., Nurses, Doctors, Clinical Officers, Lab Tech, Pharm Tech.

**Maternal Child Health services:** Maternal Child Health (MCH) services refer to an integrated set of care services that provide childbearing women with skills and treatments at critical points during pregnancy, childbirth and the postnatal period (WHO 2016).

**Maternal Child Health service quality:** it's the degree to which Maternal Child Health services (for individuals and population) increase the likelihood of timely, appropriate care for the purpose of achieving desired outcomes that are both consistent with current professional knowledge and considers the preferences and aspirations of individual women and their family. Its having adequately available and functioning structures, service delivery process that adhere to set standards, skilled healthcare workers who are correctly deployed and working optimally and increased client satisfaction/happiness to services offered (WHO 2016).

For this study Maternal Child Health quality services is services that makes client satisfy/happy.

**Mother:** A mother in this study was contextualized as a woman who is already parenting, pregnant or delivered.

**Poor:** insufficiency or not meeting set national standards or norms of a quality, that is lower than expected.

**Poor MCH service quality**: it is service offered to the mother and the child that does not increase the like hood of improved health outcome and clients are not satisfied with (WHO, 2016: MOH, 2016).

**Socio-economic and demographic Factors**: Are personal characteristics used to collect and evaluate data on people in each population e.g., age, gender, marital status, race, education, income, religion etc.

Tier three health facilities: all public county and sub-county referral hospital

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 3. 1 Average Monthly Workload and sample size distribution  33
Table 3. 2 Staff availability per health facility  33
Table 3. 3 Health facility quality Assessment
Table 3. 4 Study variables for objective 1, 2 and 3
Table 3. 5 Study variables for objective four
Table 4. 1 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics  44
Table 4. 2 Association of MCH service quality and mothers' socio-economic and       demographic characteristics
Table 4. 3 Healthcare workers' characteristics  48
Table 4. 4 Association of healthcare workers' characteristics and MCH service quality
Table 4. 5 Healthcare service delivery processes  52
Table 4. 6 Association of service delivery processes and MCH service quality
Table 4. 7 Proportion of healthcare structural aspects  56
Table 4. 8 Factor weights for healthcare structural factors
Table 4. 9 Logistic Regression with structural blocks (Physical aspect, HumanResource and Equipment)

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. 1 WHO's Quality Care Framework for Maternal Child Health (	WHO 2016) 2
Figure 2. 1 Donabedian model for measuring quality	
Figure 2. 2 Conceptual framework	
Figure 4. 1 Mean of the health structural blocks	59

# LIST OF APPENDICES

PPENDIX 1: KISUMU COUNTY MAP	5
PPENDIX 2: CONSENT LETTER	7
PPENDIX 3: MOTHER'S SOCIO-ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC DUESTIONAIRE	8
APPENDIX 4: HEALTHCARE WORKERS CHARACTERISTICS QUESTIONAIRE	E O
PPENDIX 5: SERVICE DELIVER PROCESSES QUESTIONAIRE	2
PPENDIX 6: HEALTHCARE STRUCTURAL ASPECTS QUESTIONAIRE 94	4
PPENDIX 7: KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEW GUIDE	5
PPENDIX 8: PROPOSAL APPROVAL	5
PPENDIX 9: ETHIC APPROVAL	7
PPENDIX 10: NACOSTI AUTHORIZATION	8
PPENDIX 12: COUNTY APPROVAL	9

# CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1 Background Information**

Maternal Child Health (MCH) services quality is a critical dimension of the Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 3: to ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeing for all at all ages (WHO, 2019a; UNICEF, 2020). The World Health Organization (WHO) defined MCH quality services as "the degree to which maternal child health services (for individuals and population) increase the likelihood of timely, appropriate care for the purpose of achieving desired outcomes that are both consistent with current professional knowledge and take into account the preferences and aspirations of individual women and their family". Service quality indicates the capacity to which institutions can provide care that meets their health needs. The WHO developed a framework with global standards for health system to guide on MCH service quality assessments and improvement. This framework is organized into quality measures according to the three categories: (a) inputs of care (structure factors), (b) the process of service delivery, and (c) the outcome of care (client satisfaction) (WHO, 2016).

According to this study quality is services offered to mothers that meets mother's expectation and they express satisfaction to the MCH services.

In the framework (Figure 1.1) strengthening healthcare systems inputs is expected to improve process dimensions of quality, including not only delivery of care and the experience of care by users but also efficiency of human resources functioning as well as other capital resources. The delivery of care includes the use of evidence-based practices and routine MCH services. The experience of care on the other hand consists of ensuring effective communication with mothers and their families on their care provision, the rights and expectations of mothers while respecting the preservation of their dignity and providing them with access to emotional and social support of their choice.



Figure 1. 1 WHO's Quality Care Framework for Maternal Child Health (WHO 2016)

Kenya's MCH quality indices for pregnancy-related and neonatal deaths have only minimally improved but more gradually than expected following multipronged improvement interventions to address factors associated with adverse pregnancy and infant related outcomes. Kenya National Maternal Mortality ratio at 355 per 100,000 live births and Infant Mortality at 35.5 per 1000 births. While Kisumu County has higher Maternal Mortality ratio at 495/100,000, Infant mortality at 39.1 per 1000 live and immunization coverage of 78.9% (KDHS 2014), which does not meet the SDG recommendation of less than 70 maternal deaths per 100 000 live births and immunization coverage of at least 90% (UNICEF, 2019). Furthermore, Kisumu has performed poorly as compared to the neighboring counties whereby Nandi County has MMR of 344/100,000 live births and immunization coverage of 94.4%, while Vihiga County has MMR 300/100,000 live births and immunization coverage of 96.3%. (KDHS 2014). Kisumu County is also identified as one of the regions under USAID's global initiative to improve MCH service quality (USAID, 2020).

MCH services quality is vital in reducing the burden of morbidity and mortality associated with pregnancy, childbirth and in the postnatal period, and safeguarding the dignity and equity of mothers and children (WHO, 2019b). By improving access to MCH services as well as quality of services it is estimated that all Countries will have reached the global target of 12 or less newborn deaths per 1000 live births by 2030. At the same time, this is expected to result in a reduction of an estimated 2.9 million neonatal deaths, stillbirths and maternal deaths annually in 81 high-burden Countries (UNICEF, 2020).

Whereas continual assessment of MCH service quality is needful, it has been difficult to have one agreed way/method for doing this. Different developing countries have customized the WHO framework to develop policies and strategies to ensure improved service quality and client centered outcomes (Tama *et al.*, 2018). Kenya has developed several policies in line with WHO framework with the aim of improving service quality and they include: Free Maternity Services, Kenya Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health (RMNCAH) Investment Framework and the National Reproductive Health Policy (2022-2032). Kisumu County has worked together with the National Government to implement these policies since the County does not have a different MCH policy from the National one. All these policies have not yield significant reduction in MCH service quality indices in the Country which remain high (Mbugua *et al.*, 2018).

Free Maternity Services (Linda Mama) was started in 2013 aimed at increasing access to and uptake of quality MCH services by addressing cost barriers. This involved abolition of maternity charges in all public health facilities to ensuring pregnant mothers received healthcare at no financial cost from the beginning of pregnancy till delivery to postnatal period (FMS, 2013). FMS led to an increase in MCH service uptake without corresponding improvement in health facility infrastructure and organizational set up to support increasing patient load causing an overstretch of the health sector resources leading to compromised MCH service quality (Kisiangani *at el.*, 2020).

Access to MCH service quality remains a persistent challenge across all levels of care in Kenya (MOH, 2022). A Study done in Kenya showed decreased MCH service quality majorly compounded by FMS's hurried implementation across health facilities in the Country and pointed out that although the FMS policy created an incentive for increased service uptake, it led to compromised service quality (Lang'at *et al* 2019). Subsequent studies underpin a gradual decrease in MCH service quality despite the introduction of FMS in the Country (Lusambili *et al* 2019), this is noted in the devolved healthcare system; tier 1 (community units); tier 2 (Primary Care level); and tier 3 (County/Sub- County level) which handle majority of the population seeking healthcare. These health facility levels are essentially set up as hierarchical referral units such that complicated cases are referred to a higher level of care. Therefore, tier three facilities would ideally handle patients with more complicated cases than the lower-level health facilities. However, they are often most vulnerable to adverse systemic effects on service quality, effectiveness and patient safety resulting to failure in quality care observed in majority of the sub-county hospitals in Kenya, especially with increased demand (Orangi *et al.*, 2021).

Lack of information on how mothers socio-economic and demographic factors affect MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities makes it difficult to plan and organize for MCH quality services (Gitobu at el., 2018). Despite the use of different strategies by the National and County governments to improve implementation of MCH services, quality indicators remain poor. There was need to comprehensively assess interactions among multiple components of service delivery to identify key components and potential pathways or mechanisms of impact on the service quality. In addition, previous studies have not addressed the beneficiaries' specific needs, or when considered, it is often studied independently. Tier three public health facilities are especially vulnerable and sensitive to adverse systemic changes in service quality because they handle the bulk of MCH services in the County (Sharma at el., 2017; Sadoon et al., 2020). In view of these heterogenous findings, the first specific objective of this study sort to find out how mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristic (user/demand side characteristics) may respond to or perceive MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities.

Whereas it is known that Healthcare worker characteristics (skills and competence) contribute to healthcare service quality previous studies do not identify more clearly

specific healthcare workers characteristics and potential variable interactions by which they could be influencing MCH service quality in the context of high service demand with possible resource constrains. Healthcare workers are crucial process inputs in MCH service quality (WHO, 2016; Simson *at el.*, 2019) thus, understanding how they might influence MCH quality especially in tier three public health facility will enable more appropriate planning and designing improvement strategies for MCH service quality (Lekhuleni *et al.*, 2019). Hence the second objective of the study that sort to assess healthcare workers characteristic (supply side characteristics) impact on the MCH service quality in tier three public health facility.

Healthcare service delivery processes measures of quality evaluates the manner of service delivery and entail the sum of all actions that make up healthcare (Donabedian 1980). Service delivery processes includes the clinical examination, prophylactic, health education and investigative medicine. (Baschieri *et al.*, 2019). Previous studies have shown these basic factors if conducted to mothers and children on routine basis should contribute to MCH service quality. Despite this, the Country continues to experience deteriorating MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities (Khatri, *et al.*, 2021), posing the question if these factors really contribute to MCH service quality. Therefore, it was important to understand how these factors influenced MCH service quality in the tier three public health facilities; hence the third specific objective which sort to determine healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities.

The healthcare structural factors assessment is concrete, and it encompasses a review of the (a) physical aspects, (b) equipment and (c) human resources for health at the health

facilities. Significant gaps in healthcare physical structure have continued to affect service quality and uptake; as a result, the Counties are busy building the physical structures (Bolan *et al.*, 2021). How these three structural factors interplay to contribute to MCH service quality is yet to be understood, (Bergerum *et al.*, 2020) especially in the context of the introduction of free maternity services in Kenya. Hence the fourth specific objective sort to assess healthcare structure factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facility.

The study adopted a policy maker perspective with focus on enhancing universal access to equitable, affordable and quality healthcare to all citizens. This in line with tenets of vision 2030. This study finding will help address policy and social value issues associated with implementation of MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities, particularly those occasioned by the introduction of Free Maternity Services (Linda Mama) to improve access to care and social protection. The interplay of values (as entailed in assessing client satisfaction was a critical aspect of this study, to inculcate client perspectives and value judgement, an approach not often considered in healthcare delivery research.

#### **1.2 Statement of the Problem**

Kenya's MCH quality indices have been worsening in recent times with National Maternal Mortality ratio at 355 per 100,000 live births and Infant Mortality at 35.5 per 1000 births. Whereas the Free maternity access policy led to increased utilization of skilled care at health facilities, the decline in mortality ratios were considerably low at less than 12% but varying across health facilities and by county. Kisumu County has higher Maternal Mortality ratio compared to the National at 495/100,000 and Infant

mortality at 39.1 per 1000 live births against SDG target of less than 70 maternal deaths per 100 000 live births. Furthermore, Kisumu has the worst MCH service quality indicators compared to the neighboring counties whereby Nandi has MMR of 344/100,000 live births and Vihiga County has MMR 300/100,000 live births. Most of maternal mortality and infant mortality occur in tier three public health facilities which handle the bulk of MCH cases and are the main referral point for peripheral facilities making them the most vulnerable to systemic constrains. Compromised MCH service quality is increasingly being linked to failure to attain expected healthcare improvements in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the Global Strategy for Women's, Children's, and Adolescents' Health (2016–30) have identified issues of MCH service quality as an inherent problem in resource-limited settings. Kenya's Free Maternity Services (Linda Mama) initiative removed user fees for MCH services with the aim of increasing service uptake and improving MCH service quality. Whereas this led to increased access to MCH services at tier three health facilities, there had not been corresponding improvement in health facility infrastructure and organizational set up to support increasing patient load and, as a result this caused an overstretch of health facilities resources. A recent time series analysis study only showed a small improvement of the MCH service quality indices. However, there has been limited systematic studies to clarify systems issues that continue to drive poor MCH service quality outcomes. There was further need for information on the determinants of MCH service quality in the tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County expected to ensure quality services. The current study sought to understand factors associated with MCH service quality in line with WHO framework focusing on health structure (physical structures and human resources for health), service delivery processes and outcome (client satisfaction).

## **1.3 Objectives**

## **1.3.1 Broad Objective**

To assess the determinants of MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.

## **1.3.2 Specific Objectives**

- To determine mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in the tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.
- 2. To determine healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.
- 3. To determine healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.
- 4. To assess healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.

## **1.4 Research Questions**

- 1. What are the mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in the tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County?
- 2. What are the healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County?

- 3. What are the healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County?
- 4. What are the healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County?

#### **1.5 Justification of the Study**

MCH service quality has far reaching implications for the care of mothers and children which if compromised can increase Infant and maternal morbidity and mortality ratios. Improving MCH service quality could prevent 1 million newborn deaths and half of all maternal deaths each year (WHO, 2020). There is need for quality, timely and reliable MCH data and information that will help in the development, refinement and implementation of MCH quality policies and strategies for an integrated approach to quality health services in Kisumu County tier three public health facilities.

#### **1.6 Significance of the Study**

I believe that the quality of services that focus on the care of mothers and children needs major consideration and should be part of every programme that addresses people's health. It was anticipated that the study would provide information that will lead to improvement of MCH service quality at tier three public health facilities. Therefore, understanding factors which influence quality of MCH services will go a long way in improving the health of both mother and child. The study findings highlighted the need to include in the RMNCAH Investment Framework promotional messages that are mother's age specific, messages that focus on different parities and those targeting mothers based on their place of residence. This finding is likely to change how MCH program is designed and implemented if service quality is to be achieved that will lead to reduction in Maternal mortality to 365/100,00 live births (CIPD 2018-2022).

The study also showed that healthcare workers who had HND are less likely to provide MCH service quality, this has an implication on healthcare workers training with the question being, does the government still need to continue training HND healthcare workers or just focus on Diploma and Degree level.

#### 1.7 Scope of the Study

This study focused on assessing determinants of MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities in Kisumu County, Kenya using WHO's standard of quality that is based on structure, process and outcome factors. The tier three levels of health facilities in the Country handle large number of patients with complicated MCH requirements in comparison to the lower-level health facilities.

#### **1.8 Study Limitations**

Several limitations might have influenced the results of this study i.e., social desirability bias, sponsor prejudice, cultural bias and recall bias. Social-desirability bias is a type of bias where respondents answer questions in a manner that will be viewed favorably by others. This bias was mitigated by framing questions in a manner that reflects respondent's feelings which allows them to express their emotions while giving truthful information.

When respondents are aware of the sponsors for the research, they are likely to be biased when giving feedback, this was reduced by explaining the objective of the study, maintaining a neutral position and assuring responds there is no monetary gains in this study. Cultural bias is an assumption about motivation and influence that are based on researcher cultural lens. Understanding the culture of the target population and communicating in a culturally accepted way was used by the researcher to mitigate this bias.

Recall bias which is a systematic error that occurs when respondents fail to remember previous events or experiences accurately or omit details. This was minimized by standardizing sampling methods.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **2.1 Introduction**

In this chapter the literature review was done and organized according to study objectives to assess: (a)mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities; (b)healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities; (c)healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities and (d)healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities.

# 2.2 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities

According to Brizuela *et al.*, (2017), mothers' characteristics could be influencing MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities. The study highlighted that MCH service quality is not only dependent on factors that affect healthcare workers, but mothers too, however this study did not investigate specific mother's characteristics that could be affecting MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities.

Similarly, there were significant variations to access of MCH service quality between developed and developing countries, but also within countries with maternal and child mortality rates differing by geographic location and socio-economic status. The challenge is having a unified approach of assessing MCH quality in tier three public health facilities across different countries and environments (Vogel *at el.*, 2018).

A study done in Nepal using secondary data from Nepal Demographic and Health Survey to assess the socio-demographic correlation with the quality of antenatal care in tier three health facilities in the country. The findings showed mother's education interact differentially to determine service quality by influencing mothers' ability to utilize ANC services, predisposing them to illness and affect mothers' health seeking behaviour. The study did not consider primary data and MCH in general but narrowed to ANC (Adhikari *et al.*, 2021).

In low-income Countries the researchers found that educated mothers and mothers with wealthy indices had a higher likelihood of receiving a higher number of ANC visits. This data was compared to rural mothers, and those with more than two children who were identified to be less likely to receive the required number of ANC visits. It will be important to assess how mothers access ANC services regardless of their parity and how this compares to the Kenyan context especially Kisumu County tier three public health facilities (Sheffel at el., 2019). However, a study by Carvajal-Aguirre et al., (2017), systematically reviewed evidence of the association between healthcare quality and cost, showed inconsistent evidence on the association between healthcare cost and service quality in tier three public health facilities. They established that the association between cost and quality MCH services is small to moderate, regardless of whether the direction is positive or negative. These results indicate that direct MCH services costs may be largely synergistic to other factors. It will be important to assess how mother's income relate to MCH services quality in tier three public health facilities (Sharma et al., 2017).

A community-based study done in Nigeria, Myanmar, Guinea and Ghana examined mothers' experiences on MCH services in tier three public health facilities, found that mothers with richer spouses at the health facility were more likely to report having received good quality of MCH services (Maung *et al.*, 2021). This study did not determine the spouses age in relation to MCH service quality.

In attempt to address these socio-economic and demographic gaps existent in MCH service quality, Howard-Grabman *et al.*, (2017) explored the role of community in MCH services to improve the quality of the outcomes of interventions. The researchers noted that mother's economic empowerment helped in improving access to MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities. The findings underlined that mother's economic improvement improved the use of skilled care during pregnancy, childbirth and the postnatal period for mothers and newborns. The study however did not look at the economic empowerment in the context of tier three public health facilities but rather focused on the community.

In a study done in South Africa which aimed at finding out the social factors that influence the provision of MCH services in tier three public health facilities, established that young mothers were at a much higher risk for maternal mortality compared to mothers aged 20 years and above. The researchers established that newborns born to young mothers were also more likely to have low birth weight, with the risk of long-term effects such as early onset of adult diabetes than newborns of older mothers. The data from the study reiterates the significance of understanding mothers age in relation to their influence MCH services quality in tier three public health facilities (Jonas *et al.*, 2016).

A study conducted by Asratie *et al.*, (2020) that sought to assess the continuum of MCH services in Ethiopia tier three public health facilities showed that parity and

educated mothers were more likely to receive all the elements of the continuum of care. Although this study did not highlight the number of pregnancies that is related to MCH services quality.

Likewise, a study conducted in rural western Kenya, sought to evaluate the uptake of skilled attendance along the MCH continuum of care in tier three public health facilities, found that factors such as mother's level of education and mode of transport significantly affected overall service uptake besides a drastic decline in service uptake observed from antenatal to the postnatal periods, however it did not assess other characteristics from the mother side like age, parity, religion, income and how these affects MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities (Mwangi *et al.*, 2018).

A study in Kenya found the need for analysis of the health system factors and how they contribute to MCH service quality if significant achievement is to be released in improving the MCH service quality in the tier three public health facilities (Adde *at el.*, 2020; Mbugua *at el.*, 2018).

In study done in Kisumu County demonstrated that perceived MCH service quality by the mothers was the most important determinant of service utilization at MCH clinics in tier three public health facilities. However, it was important to assess how individual mothers characteristic influence MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County (Escamilla *et al.*, 2018).

These studies demonstrated the need to establish the mother's socio-economic and demographic factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities. Some of the studies have tried to examine socio economic and demographic factors but still their individual contributory nature to quality services in tier three public health facilities is not well understood (Jalali-Farahani *et al.*, 2017). Gaining more in-depth knowledge on factors influencing MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities will help in improving wellbeing of mothers and the children hence reducing mortality and morbidity rates (Yaya *et al.*, 2019).

# 2.3 Healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities

Healthcare workers could be key determinant to quality of care provided at the tier three public health facilities (Chichirez *et al.*, 2018). According to WHO's standard framework of quality care, healthcare workers are key elements that needs structured evaluation to establish their effect on MCH service quality (Sudhinaraset *at el.*, 2017; WHO, 2016).

A study conducted in Bangladesh to assess the process factors that influence the quality of care during childbirth at 15 tier three public health facilities using Donabedian's three-dimensional conceptual framework to measure MCH services quality across the hospitals. The researchers evaluated the attention provided by healthcare workers to newborns; the responsiveness and attitude of the healthcare workers in the duration of mothers stay in health facilities. The findings showed most service providers lacked the responsive ability towards mothers with some mothers citing older healthcare workers being responsive (Kanyangarara *et al.*, 2017). These results highlighted the need to investigate the influence of healthcare workers age towards MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities.

Another cross sectional, community-based study conducted in Lao PDR, a rural district in Khammouane Province, used the modified composite coverage index (CCI) to examine the outcome of quality of care in ten MCH services in tier three public health facilities with the aim of identifying challenges to the continuum of care that mothers receive in the hospitals in rural Lao PDR. The findings revealed inadequate service providers' practical experience influencing the outcome of quality services in tier three public health facilities. The study also made suggestions for further analysis of the service providers working hours and how this could be affecting MCH services quality (Sakuma *et al.*,2019).

A study done in Sub Saharan established that service providers behaviour especially respect, politeness and technical competence are more important predictors of MCH services quality, it however did not classify the health service providers' level of competences in the tier three public health facilities (Mekbib *et al.*, 2020).

In LMICs, especially in sub-Saharan Africa studies have shown poor knowledge and skills among service providers together with other factors affecting MCH service quality. It was noted most service providers had inadequacy of skills on basic emergency obstetric care (EmOC) and there is a need to have a structured staff capacity building program (Egieyeh *et al.*, 2021). The study did not look at the different cadres of healthcare services providers that is applicable in the Kenya tier three public health facilities but focused mainly on pharmacists and pharmacy students.

Similarly, in survey conducted in seven countries in sub-Saharan Africa to examine the association between service providers in-service training and quality antenatal and sick childcare. The findings revealed that in-service training courses was among the most common interventions to improve the quality of health care in low and middle-income countries. The study emphasized the need for service providers training in order to

improve their competencies and skills for the achievement of MCH service quality, it did not assess how healthcare worker's basic education affects MCH service quality in the tier three public health facilities (Leslie *et al.*, 2016).

A study done in developing countries to identify determinants of quality maternity care services showed quality improvement efforts in developing countries which focused on strengthening healthcare workers' capability to offer services. The researchers emphasized that special attention is needed to improve interpersonal behavior, as evidence from the review points to the importance mothers attach to being treated respectfully, irrespective of socio-cultural or economic context. Moreover, the researchers found that experienced service providers and those working in better managed health facilities in Eastern, Western and South Africa provided quality maternal and childcare services with no difference between better and less equipped health facilities. They recommended on further research to establish healthcare workers' inherent characteristics associated with MCH service quality in the tier three public health facilities (Lythgoe *et al.*, 2021).

In a study done in Nigeria, healthcare workers heavy workloads in the provision of maternal health care resulted in complaints from service providers, evidence of stress and strain in care provision by service providers and the sheer numbers of patients that are left unattended to in public health facilities. Insufficient time to carry out necessary investigations on patients featured as a challenge with secondary result that mothers are reluctant to seek care in the public health facilities. The study recommended a further evaluation on the association of service providers' workload and MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities in LMICs (Ogu *et al.*, 2018).

Similarly, a study done in Ethiopia established that healthcare workers' prior and current MCH practical experiences gained from working longer in a public health facility influenced their ability to offer quality MCH services (Emiru *et al.*, 2020; Karim *et al.*, 2019). It will be interesting to find the significant work duration in a department that affects MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities.

A study conducted in 2020 across a set of four districts in Tanzania's Mtwara region in the south-eastern section of the Country sought to identify the determinants of MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities. The findings emphasized on the need to strengthen healthcare workers' skills, attitudes and interpersonal behaviours to improve MCH service quality. Evidence highlighted those mothers attach significance to respectful treatment irrespective of their socio-cultural or economic contexts with preference to older healthcare workers. It will be important to determine how this plays out in Kenya tier three public health facilities where majority of healthcare workers are of young generation. (Day *et al.*, 2021).

A study done in Uganda showed clinicians' level of education and competencies play a key role in improving MCH service quality in the tier three public health facilities. The study focused on one cadre of healthcare workers, and it will be important to assess how other cadres affect MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities (Kabatooro *et al.*, 2016).

Based on these studies, it is evident that there is need to evaluate how healthcare workers' characteristics influence MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities in the context of Kenya particularly Kisumu County. Moreover, the analyzed studies recommend for further study to establish how healthcare workers characteristics effect MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities.

# 2.4 Healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities

Healthcare service delivery processes measures of quality on the other hand evaluate the manner of service delivery and entail the sum of all actions that make up healthcare. Service quality was long categorized by Donabedian, (1980) into three categories: "structure," "process," and "outcomes." i) Structure refers to the context in which care is delivered, including hospital buildings, staff, financing, and equipment, ii) process refers to the transactions between patients and providers throughout the delivery of healthcare, iii) outcomes indicates the effects of healthcare on the health status of patients and populations which comprises indicators such as client satisfaction as shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2. 1 Donabedian model for measuring quality (1980)

Based on WHO's standard framework of care quality, the quality of the process of MCH service can be evaluated by looking at: a) the provision of care, and b) the experience of care. To begin with, evaluating the provision of care requires the examination of the use of: (1) evidence-based practices (EBPs) for emergency and routine MCH services; (2) information systems for record keeping allowing for reviews and audits, and (3) functioning referral systems across different levels of care. Examining the experience of care on the other hand entails examining:(4) the use of effective communication with clients and their families on their care provision, (5) the respect of the rights and expectations of clients (mothers and children) to preserve their dignity, and (6) the provision of access to emotional and social support to mothers. In

addition, other process indices occasion the examination of availability of: (7) skilled and motivated human resources and (8) vital physical resources needed for good quality of care in health facilities (WHO, 2016).

Information about process indices can be obtained from medical records, interviews with mothers and service providers, or direct observations of healthcare visits. The technical aspects of MCH service quality are measured by assessing input attributes using related technical tasks such as assessing patient's history and the diagnostic approaches done on the patient such as blood pressure measurement; checking for haemoglobin and checking urine for albumin (Jolivet *et al.*, 2018). Other technical attributes that can be evaluated include the provision of prophylactic drugs as well physical examinations of mothers; and the provision of health education on important maternal health services (Vogel *et al.*, 2018). Often, healthcare workers skip these process tasks because of competency issues, work-related burnout, lack of equipment and supplies, staff behaviours and other factors that largely require healthcare worker's compliance.

Research conducted across tier three public health facilities in Southeast Asia adopted the use of WHO's 'Every Newborn Action Plan' as a conceptual framework to measure MCH service quality in the region. Some of the process indices that were evaluated included: evidence-based practices (EBPs) around childbirth and postpartum care. These were evaluated by watching the care given to pregnant mothers along the continuum of MCH services and examining the delivery facility records. Most hospitals had inadequate staffing with vital measurements including blood pressure not done in majority of mothers. The findings helped to establish significant gaps in MCH service quality in the affected health facilities and influence proposals for systematic
implementation of appropriate quality standards to equip the hospitals with better capacity to provide MCH service quality. Assessment of these factors in the context Kenya tier three public health facilities will be important (Baschieri *et al.*, 2019).

A study by Chichirez *et al.*, (2018) underlined that interpersonal communication skills are a key determinant of healthcare worker-client interactions. The study found that clinicians' level of satisfaction, and their ability to build rapport as well as to express care and warmth with mothers, conduct well-structured interview of disease history are positively associated with MCH service quality, it however did not assess client satisfaction in the context of tier three public health facilities

Moreover, a study done in Nigeria, indicated that obstetric examination of mothers increased MCH service uptake in the tier three public health facilities. Having a singular assessment of MCH services might not give clear picture of the required quality outcome, hence the recommendation for assessing obstetric examination together with other components of MCH services like laboratory investigations and vaccination in tier three public health facilities (Ogbuabor *et al.*, 2018).

A study done in 5 countries in East and Southern Africa demonstrated that efforts to increase use of facility-based maternity care in low-income countries are unlikely to achieve desired gains if there is no improvement in MCH service quality, especially elements of respectful care. The analysis identified insufficient communication and information sharing by service providers as well as delays in care and abandonment of laboring mothers and recommends for a further study to establish if communication and information sharing influenced MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities

(Kruk *et al.*, 2017). It will be important to look at health education which is the main form of information sharing in Kenya tier three public health facilities.

A study in Tanzania found that structured and more skilled approaches to communication between healthcare workers and their clients considerably improve MCH service quality delivery although the design focused on healthcare workers there is need to investigate client's feedback for MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities (Baker *et al.*, 2018; Coles *et al.*, 2020).

# 2.5 Healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities

The structural quality assessment is concrete and easy to assess, and encompasses a review of the structural and systematic resources within a healthcare facility i.e., the physical health environment, the basic and specialized services provided, the available medical drugs, equipment, and facilities used (such as diagnostic laboratories and emergency care units), the human resources factors such as staffing, training and payment, and the use of hospital systems such as referral systems and information technology.

A cross-sectional study was conducted in Bangladesh to assess the quality of care during childbirth at 15 tier three public health facilities. The research adopted the use of Donabedian's three-dimensional conceptual framework to measure the structural quality of MCH services across the hospitals. Subsequently, the researchers examined the following structural indices of quality in the hospitals: the hospitals' physical environment and essential amenities in the maternity wards such as water, sanitation and hygiene. In addition, they assessed the availability of vital facilities and equipment such as neonatal stabilization units (NSU), special care newborn units (SCANU), and essential drugs. Furthermore, they reviewed the organizational structure in terms of staffing, the availability of human labor, staff payment, and staff training. Consequently, the results of the assessment found significant gaps in MCH services quality in terms inefficiencies in the provision, readiness and experience of care across the structural quality index. The study did not consider systemic evaluation of specific structural factors and their contribution to MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities (Billah *et al.*, 2019).

Another study carried out across 12 Countries in Africa and Asia as part of the WHO's (Every Newborn Action Plan) ENAP sought to identify the specific challenges that affect structural scaling up to improve MCH service quality for the sick and new-born infants at the time of birth. The results of the study found significant gaps in the structural quality of health facilities that affected the timely care of mothers. The study emphasized on the need for targeted and systematic structural review before scaling up interventions that address the challenges in the MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities (Bolan *et al.*, 2021).

A study done in Madagascar to guide the structural quality improvement at health facilities in the country with respect to enhancing interventions to MCH complications such as pre-eclampsia/eclampsia (PE/E) and postpartum hemorrhage (PPH). The results showed that the main barriers to MCH services quality were inadequate physical structures. The study focused on the National level health facilities as compared to the tier three public health facilities which could yield different results (Marks *et al.*, 2016). In addition, there were inadequate emergency transport and communication equipment in half of the facilities, as well as limited supply of safe water within 500 meters of hospitals. It will be important to assess this in Kenya's tier three health facilities.

In another study by Benzer *et al.*, (2018) which designed a structural readiness matrix to examine facility readiness to administer a package of inpatient MCH services aimed at improving MCH services quality. The matrix assessed structural quality indicators and the finding showed quality gaps in specialized staff and thermoregulation. The matrix however does not conform to WHO or Donabedian's quality frameworks; it will be important to assess this using WHO MCH quality framework in the context of tier three public health facilities (Bergerum *et al.*, 2020).

However, another study carried out in Kenya and Namibia found parallel insights showing that better structures did not translate to better service delivery process or greater client satisfaction in tier three public health facilities. The study utilized Donabedian's three-dimensional conceptual framework to assess the quality of antenatal care (ANC) in hospitals. The results showed that a wide variation in structural and process attributes of MCH quality of care existed in several facilities offering ANC. The study also indicated that the health facility structural preparedness may not be sufficient to provide good-quality services (Do *et al.*, 2017). The data highlighted that despite better structural quality of the tier three public health facilities, common problems in service delivery such as laboratory tests could still be posing more serious quality concerns and there is need to have an integrated evaluation of structural and process factors in MCH services quality in the tier three public health facilities (Dalinjong *et al.*, 2018).

Based on these studies on structural factors associated with MCH service quality, findings demonstrate luck of a concise analysis of structural factors in relation to MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities and the inadequacies point towards

26

the need for a further analysis of the structural factors influence on MCH service quality that ensure optimum MCH services for all mothers and children in the tier three public health facilities.

#### 2.6 Summary of Literature review

The reviewed studies largely focused on mothers socio-economic and demographic characteristics in terms of access and service utilization in one or two components of MCH service quality. This has led to lack of all-inclusive evidence, including service inputs, process factors and output factors as well as user characteristics, especially mothers' characteristics that are more related to MCH services quality in tier three public health facilities e.g., parity (Sheffel *at el.*, 2019).

Studies done on healthcare workers' characteristics targeted either qualified or intern nurses in a general context of healthcare and not MCH services quality. Moreover, the analyzed studies recommended for further study to establish healthcare workers effect on MCH service quality (Sakuma *et al.*,2019). This is crucial in the Kenya's context which has different cadres of healthcare workers that provide MCH services ranging from Doctors, Clinical Officers, Nurses, Laboratory, Pharmaceutical Technologists and especially in tier three public health facilities which handle the bulk of MCH services.

The reviewed studies on healthcare service delivery processes and healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality points towards the need for a further analysis to establish how these factors associated with MCH service quality that will ensure optimum MCH services quality for all mothers and children (Baschieri *et al.*, 2019; Bolan *et al.*, 2021). There was no literature that assessed MCH service quality in the context of Kisumu County tier three public health facilities.

#### **2.7 Conceptual Framework**

The Framework is borrowed from WHO's Quality Care Framework for MCH and modified according to the study objectives. It identified independent variables which entailed mothers socio-economic and demographic characteristics, healthcare workers characteristics, healthcare service delivery processes and healthcare structural aspects with outcome variable being MCH service quality measured as client satisfaction in the tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County. The study envisaged that the proximate factors would have a modifying and / or mediating effect in the interaction between independent and dependent variables, rather than confounding e.g., poor medical practice and lack of appropriate knowledge on MCH might modify the perception of MCH service quality received by the mothers.



Figure 2. 2 Conceptual framework

### CHAPTER THREE METHODOLOGY

#### **3.1 Introduction**

This chapter is a description of the study site, study design and study population. It also includes a description of the sampling procedure, data collection methods and data analysis methods that was used in the study.

#### 3.2 Study Area

Kisumu County covers 0.36% of the total land mass in Kenya. It is located between longitudes 35" 28" and 35" 36" and latitudes 0"12" and 1"10" South. It is bordered by Counties of Vihiga and Nandi to the North, County of Kericho to the East, Homa Bay County to the South, and Siaya County to the West (Appendix 1). Kisumu County has 210 health facilities, seven of which are classified as tier three public health facilities previously level IV according to Kenya Essential Package for Health (*KEPH*) (Kisumu CIDP, 2018-2022). The top 10 health problems facing children in this County include Malaria, URTIs, diarrhoeal diseases, other diseases of respiratory system, diseases of the skin, fever, pneumonia, Ear infection, eye infection and UTI (Kisumu CIPD, 2018-2022).

#### 3.3 Study Design

This was an analytical cross-sectional study using a mixed methods study design which adopted a both quantitative and qualitative data.

#### **3.4 Target population**

Women of reproductive age.

#### **3.5 Study Population**

Mothers seeking MCH services in the tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.

#### 3.6 Sample size Determination and Sampling Techniques

#### **3.6.1 Sample size determination**

There were 4713 mothers who attended MCH services monthly in Kisumu County tier three public health facilities, this is an average figure after comparing MOH 711 data for six months (DHIS 2019). The desired sample size for mothers seeking MCH services was determined using Cochran's (1977) sample size determination formula:

$$n_0 = \frac{z^2 x p(p-1)}{e^2} \quad n_0 = \text{ sample size}$$

 $n_0$  = unadjusted sample size

n = adjusted sample size

N = population size

z = z-score (1.96. Confidence level 95%)

e = margin of error (0.05)

p = the (estimated) proportion of the population which has the attribute in

question is (30%) based on DHIS data 2019.

$$n_0 = \frac{1.96^2 x \ 0.3 \ x \ 0.7}{0.05^2} = 322.6944 \cong 323$$

Sample size was adjusted according to the formula below since target population was less than 10,000. N in the formula is the population size, which is 4713

$$n = \frac{n_0}{1 + \frac{(n_0 - 1)}{N}}$$
$$n = \frac{323}{1 + \frac{323 - 1}{4713}} = 302.343396 \cong 303$$

Assuming a 10% loss to follow up, the number was adjusted to:303+10%=334\_mothers. All the 81 healthcare workers offering MCH services were included in the study together with 7 Key Informant Interviews from health facility RMNCAH in-charge.

#### **3.6.2 Sampling procedures**

All the seven tier three health facilities were purposively selected because: i) they are equally distributed across the county, each being in every sub-county and as such giving a clear representation of the County populace ii) are referral centers for the Primary Health Care facilities iii) they also provide primary health care services and iv) handle the bulk of MCH services.

The 334 sampled mothers were distributed proportionately across all the seven tier three public health facilities according to the average monthly MCH workload data for each health facility as shown in Table 3.2. The mothers who met the inclusion criteria were randomly selected with every 14<sup>th</sup> mother identified from a sample frame of 4713.

Sub-County	Health Facility Name	Monthly workload (x)	Sample size(x/N*n)
Seme	Kombewa Sub-County Hospital	578	41
Kisumu East	Kisumu County Referral Hospital	1137	81
Kisumu West	Chulaimbo Sub-County Hospital	934	66
Kisumu Central	Nyahera Sub-County Hospital	543	38
Muhoroni	Muhoroni Sub-County Hospital	322	23
Nyando	Ahero Sub-County Hospital	774	55
Nyakach	Nyakach Sub-County Hospital	425	30
	Total workload (N) 4713	4713	334
Total sample siz	ze (n) 334		

#### Table 3. 1 Average Monthly Workload and sample size distribution

Source for monthly workload data: DHIS2, 2019

All the healthcare workers offering MCH services in all the seven tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County were included in the study. The healthcare workers were interviewed in the evening and at their convenience in order not to interrupt service delivery. The staff availability per facility is as per Table 3.3.

Health facility	Number of service providers
Kisumu county referral Hospital	20
Chulaimbo sub-county Hospital	11
Ahero sub-county Hospital	14
Kombewa sub-county Hospital	17
Nyahera sub-county Hospital	6
Nyakach sub-county Hospital	8
Muhoroni sub-county Hospital	5
Total	81

#### **3.6.3 Inclusion criteria**

1. Mothers attending MCH/post-natal services and must be residence of Kisumu

County for minimum of 6 months.

2. 18 years and above mothers and emancipated minors

- 3. All healthcare workers deployed to MCH clinics.
- 4. Those who consent for the study
- 5. Tier three health facility RMNCAH in-charges

#### 3.6.4 Exclusion criteria

- 1. Mothers who attended MCH clinics for the first time were excluded from the study since their first visit would not have allowed them to give a satisfactory evaluation of the services offered at the health facility.
- 2. Post-natal mothers attending Tier 3 clinics but who had delivered from health facilities outside the study sites.

#### **3.7 Data Collection tools**

The study used closed ended questionnaires and KII for data collection. The closed ended questionnaires were physically administered to sampled mothers and all the 81 healthcare workers deployed to offer MCH services in the 7 tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County. Seven Key Informant Interviews was administered to all the tier three health facilities RMNCAH in-charges. The tool in appendix three was used to collect data for objective one, the tool in appendix four was used to collect data for objective two, the tool in appendix five was used to collect data for objective three and the tool in appendix six was used to collect data for objective four.

#### 3.7.1 Recruitment of research assistants

Three research assistants were recruited for the study. These included two nurses and one Clinical Officer students who had experience in conducting interviews using questionnaires.

#### **3.7.2 Training of research assistants**

The three research assistants were trained for four days on the study objectives: questionnaire administration through mock administration as well as extraction of information from structured observation.

#### 3.7.3. Reliability and Validity Test of the Instruments

Validity is the extent to which the research results can be accurately interpreted and generalized to the population. It is the extent to which research instruments measure what they are intended to measure while Reliability is the extent to which a research instrument can yield similar results on repeated trials, thus ensuring possible replication of the study (Polit and Beck, 2017). The tool was pre-tested in Siaya County Referral Hospital which had similar characteristics with the study area. 10% of the participants from the parent sample size (10% of 334) which was 34 mothers and (10% of 81) which was 9 healthcare workers were purposefully selected for pilot testing with the assistance of research assistants. Questionnaire was administered to those participants and after one week, the same questionnaires were again administered to the same group of respondents and the responses scored manually. The study looked at how consistent the results were for different items for the same construct within the measure. To test for reliability, Cronbach's alpha was used which is a measure used to assess the reliability and internal consistency of a set of test items and a reliable data collection tool should have Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha$ ) of at least 0.6 to 0.9. In this study, the tool had an overall Cronbach's ( $\alpha$ ) score of 0.7 hence it was reliably acceptable tool.

#### **3.7.4 Facility service quality assessment**

The stated variables in table 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5 were measured based on the constructs provided by the Kenya Quality Model for Health, Human resources for health Policy, MCH Standard operating procedures, Kenya Health Sector Strategic and Investment plan 2018-2022.

Components type	Source of Component Measures
Mother's socio-economic &	Interviews
demographic characteristics	
Healthcare workers	Interviews
characteristics	Kenya Quality Model for Health (MOH, 2018b)
	Human resources for health Policy (MOH 2019)
	Licensing -Regulatory boards.
Healthcare service delivery	Interviews
processes	MCH National checklist (MOH, 2016)
	Kenya Quality Model for Health (MOH, 2018b)
	MCH Standard operating procedures (2020)
Healthcare structural aspects	Kenya Quality Model for Health (MOH, 2018b)
	Kenya Health Sector Strategic and Investment
	plan (MOH, 2018a)
Outcome	Client satisfaction

#### Table 3. 3 Health facility quality Assessment

#### 3.7.5 Study variables

The study variables were mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics, healthcare workers' characteristics, healthcare service delivery processes and healthcare structural variables as shown in Table 3.5 and Table 3.6.

Objective 1:	<b>Objective 2:</b>	Objective 3:
Mother's socio-economic and	Healthcare worker's	Healthcare service delivery
demographic factors	characteristics variables	process variables
Age	Age	Examination
Marital status	Gender	Clinical examination
Mother's level of education	Marital status	Obstetric examination
Partner's age	Cadre	Blood pressure measurements
Partner's level of education	Basic training Institution	• Maternal weight/height
Parity	Highest training level	measurements
Mode of transport	Midwifery training	Laboratory Investigations
Time taken to health facility	Deployment	Rapid Syphilis Test
Residence	section/department	• HIV Test
Religion	Duration in the	• Malaria test
Cultural beliefs	section/department	• HB test
Source of income	Working hours per day	• Urine test
Monthly average income	Number of clients seen per	• Blood type test
	day	Immunization & supplement

Table	3.4	Study	variables	for	objective	1.2.	and 3
Lanc	5. 4	Diuuy	variabics	101	objective	1,4,	anu J

# Immunization & supplement provision

- Maternal TT
- Child immunization
- Iron/folic acid provision

#### Health education & mentorship

- Recommendation on emergencies
- Birthplan development
- Recommendation on FP
- Child danger signs
- Knowledge on 4 ANC visits
- Number of ANC visits
- ANC first visit
- Completed ANC card
- Return date

Healthcare structural aspects	Measure reference		
Physical structural aspects (7 items)			
ANC Clinic	Recommended Kenya Quality Model for		
Post-natal Ward	Health:		
FP Room	A - Not available at time of visit.		
Nursing station	B – Available: functionality (1 –		
Ante-natal Ward	adequate; 2 – not adequate)		
Theatre			
Toilets			
Human resources for health (5 items)	Recommended Kenya Quality Model for		
Nutritionist	Health and Kenya human resources for		
Medical Officer	health strategy:		
Pharm Technologists	A – Not available at time of visit. $\mathbf{P}$ – Available, functionality (1)		
Nursing officer(midwife)	B - Available: functionality (1 - adequate; 2 - not adequate)		
Obstetrician/Gynaecologists	adequate, 2 – not adequate)		
Equipment (22 items)			
Linen trolley			
BP Machine			
Delivery coach			
Stethoscope			
Oxygen machine			
Suction machine			
Portal lamps/overhead			
General trolley			
Ultrasound	Recommended Kenya Quality Model for		
MUAC tape	Health:		
Autoclave	A – Not available at time of visit. P – Available, functionality (1)		
Baby cots	B – Available: functionality (1 – adequate: 2 – not adequate)		
Blood warmer	adequate, 2 – not adequate)		
Ultrasonic Nebulizer			
Rescucitaire			
Speculum set			
Infant radiant warmer	]		
Phototherapy unit	]		
Infant weighing scale			
Telephone	]		
Baby stethoscope	]		
Nursery with incubator			

Data was collected using structured questionnaires administered to mothers and healthcare workers with the aim of getting more information on the determinants of MCH service quality. The questions assessed different dimensions of mothers' socio economic and demographic characteristics, healthcare workers' characteristics, healthcare service delivery processes and healthcare structural aspects as shown in Table 3.6. The entire data collection process was done with the assistance of three research assistants; and the units of observation were mothers seeking MCH services and healthcare workers providing MCH service.

#### **3.8 Data Analysis**

Quantitative data arising from the study was managed using the Stata version 16. Data cleaning entailed coding values for categorical variables as well as renaming and aligning variable labels to those in the questionnaire. The outcome variable, that is MCH quality services, a question asked in the questionnaire as "Were you satisfied with the services you received?" with two possible choices of "yes", and "no" was binarized by coding "no" = 0 and "yes" = 1. This was necessary because binary logistic regression demands that the dependent variable must be dichotomous and with 0 and 1 values only.

All variables were categorical in nature and as such, descriptive statistics involved counts and percentages, reported to assess patterns of responses to the assessed factors. Pearson's Chi-square test was used to assess whether there was a significant association between MCH service quality and the independent variables, rejecting the null hypothesis of "no association" at the confidence level of 95%, equivalent to  $\alpha$  0.05, before a bivariate logistic regression was run to measure the size of this association by way of odds ratios. The same level of statistical confidence was employed to determine

factors that would significantly influence MCH service quality; that is, a factor would be regarded to be a significant if the associated p-value from the binary logistic regression was less than the threshold of 0.05 (Krippendorff *et al.*, 2018).

Because of the numerous independent variables, a stepwise variable selection technique was performed to select only a few but relatively important factors, where the significance level for removal from the model was set to be 0.1. These fewer factors would then go into the final binary logistic regression models where factor levels are important for odds ratios. All binary logistic regressions estimated robust standard errors; that is standard errors that are less biased because of the use of scaled variance matrix. Four reduced binary logistic regressions were performed in total, that one for each objective. The overall model is given in the equation below.

$$y_i = \ln\left(\frac{p}{1-p}\right) = \beta_0 + \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j X_j$$

Where:

 $y_i$  = the quality of MCH services and i = 0 or 1

- $X_j$  = the vector of covariates and j = 1, 2, 3, ..., n for n covariates
- $\beta_j$  = the vector of regression coefficients and j = 1, 2, 3, ..., n for n covariates.

The  $\beta_0$  is not interpreted in a logistic regression, and after exponentiating the RHS of the model, the  $\beta_i$  will be interpreted as the odds ratio for covariate the  $X_i$ .

Healthcare structural aspects data was analyzed descriptively and by using Principal Component Analysis (PCA) which is a factor analysis model (a type of regression model) for data reduction and to maximize variability in the data based on the amount of variability accounted for by the listed items.

The model as shown

$$\mathbf{PC}_1 = a_{11}x_1 + a_{12}x_2 + a_{13}x_3 + \dots + a_{1n}x_n$$

where  $PC_i$  is principal component *i*;  $a_{ik}$  represents the weight for the  $k^{th}$  variable for the *i*<sup>th</sup> principal component. Principal component is a linear combination of optimally weighted observed variables which are extracted in decreasing order of importance so that the first PC accounts for as much of the variation as possible hence  $PC_1$  selected, PCA generates. The variables were first cleaned into binary forms and coded such that yes = 1 and no = 0. Because PCA works best for correlated variables that necessitate dimensionality reduction, the variables were subjected to Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy to ensure PCA is appropriate for them. The test returned a KMO score of 7.2, indicating that the sampling is adequate for PCA on these variables. The PCA was then run and the factor loadings were rotated by the varimax method. Individual indicators were weighted independently to measure the amount of their contribution to MCH quality services. The indicators were then grouped into three blocks (physical structures, human resource and equipment) which were then put into a binary logistic regression where the outcome variable was MCH quality services. Qualitative data was audio recorded, the transcripts cleaned and uploaded to the NVivo® software. The data was re-organized and coded according to relevant information then arranged as per the emerging themes. The quotes included in the results were typical views expressed by the respondents and were used to exemplify emergent themes.

#### **3.9 Ethical Considerations**

Ethical approval was obtained from Maseno University Ethics Review Committee (MUERC) (Appendix 9) and authority to conduct this study was obtained from National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation (NACOSTI) (Appendix 10). Kisumu County Health department was informed and permission was granted to proceed with the study (Appendix 12). Prior to enrolment in the study, all potential participants were informed on the aim, process, benefits and duration of the study in which they were free to choose whether to participate or not. Those willing to participate signed a written informed consent form to show acceptance for inclusion into the study. Participants' anonymity was observed through coding of clients and confidentiality was assured using none-identifiers instead of names of participants. The rights of the study participants were guaranteed by explaining to them that they were free to withdraw from the study at any stage and that they stand risking nothing by doing so. The principal researcher maintained sole access to all information collected and this information was stored under lock and key. Procedural bias was minimized by administering the questionnaire during mothers relaxed moments i.e., at the waiting bay and in the evening for healthcare workers when workload is low.

### CHAPTER FOUR RESULTS

#### **4.1 Introduction**

This chapter presents the findings of this study in line with the study objectives outlined in chapter one. There was 100% response rate for both the mothers 334(100%), healthcare workers 81(100%) and KII 7(100%).

## 4.2 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County

This objective assessed how the mothers' characteristics are associated with MCH service quality in Kisumu tier three public health facilities. The assessed characteristics included: age, number of pregnancies, marital status, mothers' level of education, partners age, partners level of education, residence, mode of transport, time taken to health facility, religion, cultural beliefs, source of income and monthly income. About half (51.2%) of the mothers were aged between 20-29 years while those aged 30-39 years comprised (31.4%), this is supported by KII.

"Majority of the mothers visiting this hospital are young in their 20's" (KII-001 Kisumu Country Referral Hospital)

Among all mothers, (53.9%) lived below two dollars per day, (42.9%) resided in the rural areas and (18.3%) in slums; (41.6%) had at least secondary level education, while (71.9%) were married and only (17.4%) had had >3 pregnancies. At least (55%) of mothers reached the health facilities within 30 – 60 minutes. (Table 4.1).

Variable	Category	n=334	%
	10-19	40	12.0
	20-29	171	51.2
Age (years)	30-39	105	31.4
	40-49	18	5.4
	>3	58	17.4
	3	80	23.9
No. of pregnancies	2	118	35.3
	1	78	23.4
	Single (never married)	46	13.8
Manital status	Married	240	71.9
Marital status	Divorced	28	8.3
	Widowed	20	6.0
	None	12	3.7
	Primary	108	32.3
Mothers Level of education	Secondary	139	41.6
	College/Tertiary	75	22.4
	10-19	2	0.6
	20-29	67	19.9
Partner's age	30-39	162	48.6
	40-49	98	29.4
	>50	5	1.5
	None	6	1.7
Derther's level of advection	Primary	62	18.5
Farmer's level of education	Secondary	135	40.5
	College/Tertiary	131	39.3
	Town Centre	61	18.3
Residence	Slums	61	18.3
	Outskirts of town	69	20.5
	Rural	143	42.9
	<30 minutes	106	31.8
Time taken to health facility	30-60 minutes	186	55.6
	>1hrs	42	12.6
	Protestant	158	47.2
	Catholic	122	36.6
Religion	Muslim	31	9.3
	Others	23	6.9
Cultural beliefs	No	311	93.2
	Yes	23	6.8
	Salary	75	22.4
	Business	145	43.4
Source of income	Remittances	52	15.5
	Farming	38	11.4
	Others	24	7.3
Monthly Income	<ksh 6000<="" td=""><td>180</td><td>53.9</td></ksh>	180	53.9
	>Ksh 6000	154	46.1

### Table 4. 1 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics

Mothers aged 30-39 years were less likely to report having received MCH service quality compared to those aged 10-19 years (aOR=0.52, 95%CI=0.28-0.96, p-value=0.035). Mothers who had had 1 previous pregnancy (aOR=2.29, 95%CI=1.04-2.05, p-value=0.040) and those with 2 earlier pregnancies (aOR=3.22, 95%CI=1.54-2.70, p-value=0.002) were more likely to report having received MCH service quality. This was also noted in KII.

"We try to offer equal quality services to all mothers but sometimes we pay more attention to para 1 and prim gravidas just because of risk that may follow them" (KII-006 Chulaimbo Hospital).

Similarly, those who resided in rural areas (aOR=2.24, 95%CI=1.05-2.79, p-value=0.037) were more likely to report having received MCH service quality. Mothers who had partners aged 40-49 years were more likely to report of having received MCH service quality as compared with other age groups (OR=2.63, 95%CI=0.66-1.45, p-value=0.004). However, there was no significant association between marital status, partner's level of education, mothers' level of education, duration of visits, cultural beliefs, source of income, monthly average income and MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities as seen in Table 4.2.

This was seen in KII: "Over time I have noticed mothers who are escorted by older partners to the MCH clinics be more receptive to health advise and education. The younger partners are always in a hurry and some feel shy to support their wives" (KII-003 Nyakach Hospital)

Variable	Category	n=334	%	aOR	95% CI	<i>P</i> -value
	10-19	40	12.0	Ref		
Age category	20-29	171	51.2	0.77	0.32-1.81	0.544
	30-39	105	31.4	0.52	0.28-0.96	0.035*
	40-49	18	5.4	0.47	0.14-1.57	0.220
	Single	46	13.8	Ref		
Marital status	Married	240	71.9	1.60	0.73-3.51	0.240
	Divorced	28	8.3	0.73	0.22-2.39	0.599
	Widowed	20	6.0	0.82	0.21-3.16	0.769
	None	12	3.7	Ref		
	Primary	108	32.3	0.64	0.14-2.86	0.555
Mothers' level of education	Secondary	139	41.6	0.80	0.18-3.55	0.769
	Tertiary	75	22.4	0.65	0.14-3.04	0.586
	15-19	2	0.6	Ref		
	20-29	67	19.9	3.34	0.80-13.94	0.098
Partner's age	30-39	162	48.6	2.77	0.75-10.23	0.127
	40-49	98	29.4	2.63	0.66-1.45	0.004*
	>50	5	1.5	N/A		
Partner's level of education	None	6	1.7	Ref		
	Primary	62	18.5	2.00	0.16-24.48	0.588
	Secondary	135	40.5	3.44	0.30-39.89	0.323
	Tertiary	131	39.3	2.89	0.25-33.48	0.396
No. of pregnancies	>3	58	17.4	Ref	0.00.4.50	0.120
	3	80	23.9	1.93	0.82-4.52	0.130
	2	118	35.3	3.22	1.54-2.70	0.002*
	1	/8	23.4	2.29	1.04-2.05	0.040*
Time taken to nearth	<30 minutes	106	31.8 55.6	Ker 0.84	0 46 1 51	0.554
Tacinty	>1bro	180	33.0 12.6	0.84	0.40-1.31	0.554
	>11118	42 61	12.0	0.05 Dof	0.55-2.09	0.097
Dosidonao	Slume	61	10.5	0.58	0.24 1.44	0.243
Kesiuence	Outskirts of town	69	20.5	0.58	0.24 - 1.44 0.28 - 1.58	0.245
	Rural	143	20.5 42.9	2.07	1 05-2 79	0.037*
	Protestant	158	47.2	Ref	1.05 2.79	0.007
Religion	Catholic	122	36.6	0.63	0 35-1 16	0.137
Tengion	Muslim	31	93	0.03	0 19-1 30	0.153
	Others	23	6.9	0.16	0.04-1.63	0.068
Cultural beliefs	No	311	93.2	Ref		
	Yes	23	6.8	0.74	0.26-2.11	0.572
	Salary	75	22.4	Ref		
	Business	145	43.4	0.95	0.37-4.35	0.468
Source of income	Remittances	52	15.5	1.13	0.47-2.71	0.793
	Farming	38	11.4	1.27	0.48-3.36	0.627
	Others	24	7.3	0.67	0.21-2.16	0.500
Monthly average income	<6000	180	53.9	Ref		
_	>6000	154	46.1	1.03	0.60-1.77	0.916

### Table 4. 2 Association of MCH service quality and mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics

aOR=adjusted odds ratio; \*Significant at p≤0.05

# **4.3 Healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County**

The study looked at the healthcare workers' characteristics: age, gender, marital status, education level, cadre, experience in the department and workload. Almost half of the healthcare workers were young between 20-29 years (49.4%). Most of the healthcare workers were females (65.4%) and those married were (63.0%). Among the healthcare workers offering MCH services (46.7%) were Nursing officer; most of the healthcare workers had Diploma level of education (58.0%) while (3.7%) had master's degree. More than half (66.7%) of all healthcare workers were graduates from KMTC as seen in Table 4.3.

Attributes n=81 %	p-value
Age	0.754
20-29 yrs. 40 49.4	
30-39 yrs. 31 38.3	
40-49 yrs. 7 8.6	
50-59 yrs. 3 3.7	
Gender	0.519
Male 28 34.6	
Female 53 65.4	
Marital Status	0.001*
Married 51 63.0	
Not Married         30         37.0	
Cadre	0.342
Clinical officer 13 16.0	
Medical officer 5 6.2	
Nursing officer 37 46.7	
Nutritionist 6 7.4	
Pharm Technologist 6 7.4	
Lab Technologist56.2	
Others 9 11.0	
Basic Training Institution	0.003*
KMTC 54 66.7	
University 19 23.4	
Others 8 9.9	
Highest training level	0.019*
Masters 3 3.7	
BSc 20 24.7	
Higher National Diploma78.6	
Diploma 47 58.0	
Certificate 4 5.0	
Midwifery training	0.594
Yes 40 49.4	
No 41 50.6	
Deployment section	0.487
ANC 23 28.3	
FP 6 7.4	
Maternity 18 22.2	
CWC 21 26.0	
Others 13 16.1	
Duration in the section	0.028*
0-6 Months 46 56.8	
>6 Months 35 43.2	
Working hours/Day	0.817
8 hours 54 66.7	
>8 hours 27 33.3	
Number of clients/Day	0.004*
5-10 clients 24 29.6	
11-20 clients 28 34.6	
>20clients 29 35.8	

Table 4. 3 Healthcare workers' characteristics

\*Significant at p≤0.05

Healthcare workers' marital status could be influencing MCH service quality with those not married less likely to offer quality services as compared to their married counterparts (OR=0.160, 95%CI=0.036-0.711, p-value=0.016). University level graduates were 10 times more likely to offer MCH service quality as compared to KMTC graduates (aOR=9.693, 95%CI=1.153-2.162, p-value=0.042). Having Higher National Diploma (HND) qualification was less likely to be associated with MCH service quality as compared to Diploma level education (aOR=0.032, 95%CI=0.981-1.072, p-value=0.036). These findings were supported by KII: *"I can tell you there are graduate staff here from one of the University which I don't what to name here but they offer good services to mothers. I know some of us went back to school to do Higher Diploma course unfortunate there is very little change seen in their practice" (KII-005 Nyahera Hospital)* 

Healthcare workers deployed in one section/department for 6 months are 7 times more likely to offer MCH service quality (OR=7.220, 95%CI=1.296-2.215, p-value=0.024). Attending to 5-10 numbers of clients a day was significantly associated with MCH service quality (aOR=2.047, 95%CI=2.074-2.625, p-value=0.021) as compared with those attending to 11-20 clients as shown in Table 4.4. this is also seen I response from KII: *"There has been Increased workload because of linda mama, this has really affected how we attend to patients, we rush mothers through to clear the line instead of taking time to properly attend to them" (KII-002 Ahero Hospital)* 

	Adjusted Odds	•	[95% Confidence Interval]		
Factors	Ratio	p-value	Lower CI	Upper CI	
Age					
20-29 yrs.	Ref	Ref			
30-39 yrs.	1.048	0.926	1.042	1.859	
40-49yrs	0.260	0.078	0.058	1.165	
50-59yrs	0.250	0.326	0.015	3.962	
Gender					
Female	Ref	Ref			
Male	2.540	0.242	0.533	12.089	
Marital Status					
Married	Ref	Ref			
Not married	0.160	0.016*	0.036	0.711	
Cadre					
Nursing Officer	Ref				
Clinical officer	0.525	0.479	0.025	11.029	
Medical officer	1.742	0.773	0.039	76.273	
Nutritionist	0.082	0.223	0.001	4.561	
Pharm Tech	0.039	0.162	0.001	3.659	
Lab Tech	0.452	0.702	0.007	26.202	
Others	1.112	0.960	0.018	68.594	
<b>Basic training Institution</b>					
KMTC	Ref	Ref			
University	9.693	0.042*	1.153	2.162	
Others	0.335	0.400	0.026	4.275	
Highest training level					
Diploma	Ref	Ref			
HND	0.032	0.036*	0.981	1.072	
BSc	0.743	0.831	0.048	11.392	
Masters	0.441	0.560	0.028	6.870	
Certificate	1.801	0.680	0.110	29.367	
Midwifery training					
No	Ref	Ref			
Yes	0.165	0.195	0.010	2.516	
Deployment section					
ANC	Ref	Ref			
FP	2.866	0.443	0.194	42.34	
Maternity	0.169	0.118	0.018	1.571	
CWC	0.455	0.441	0.061	3.370	
Others	0.253	0.363	0.013	4.890	
Duration in the section					
0-5 Months	Ref	Ref			
6 Months	7.220	0.024*	1.296	2.215	
Working hours/Day					
8 hours	Ref	Ref			
>8 hours	1.149	0.883	0.178	7.390	
Number of client/ Day					
5-10	2.047	0.021*	2.074	2.625	
11-20	5.131	0.061	0.853	6.575	
>20	2.254	0.407	0.330	15.363	

Table 4	4. 4	4 Association	of he	ealthcare	workers'	characteristics	and	MCH	service	quality

aOR= adjusted odds ratio; \*Significant at p≤0.05

# 4.4 Healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County

This study sort to determine healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality. This was done by gathering mothers' feedback on healthcare service delivery processes based on WHO checklist and the information verified using MCH records and Mother and Child Health Handbook. The focus was on clinical examination, laboratory tests, provision of supplements, immunizations, ANC visit and health education. The findings showed that clinical examination was conducted to majority of clients (91.3%) with blood pressure measurement done to (98.5%). Laboratory investigation was done in majority of mothers with rapid syphilis test at (93.7%), blood type test at (79.3%), malaria test at (74.0%) and urine test at (57.8%). Health education and mentorship on how to develop individual birth plan was given to (82.9%) as shown in Table 4.5.

Variables		n=334	%	<i>P</i> -value
Examination:				0.021*
Clinical exam	Yes	305	91.3	
	No	29	8.7	
Obstetric exam	Yes	330	98.8	
	No	4	1.2	
Blood pressure	Yes	329	98.5	
	No	5	15	
Maternal Weight/Height	Yes	332	99.4	
Waterhar Werght/Herght	No	2	0.6	
I aboratory investigation	NO	2	0.0	0 004*
Rapid synhilis test	Ves	313	03 7	0.004
Rapid syphins est	No	21	63	
HIV tost	NO Voc	21	0.5	
HI V test	1 es	519	93.5	
	NO N	15	4.5	
Malaria test	Yes	247	/4.0	
	No	87	26.0	
HB Test	Yes	330	98.8	
	No	4	1.2	
Urine test	Yes	193	57.8	
	No	141	42.2	
Blood type	Yes	265	79.3	
	No	69	20.7	
Immunization and supplement provision				0.061
Maternal Tetanus toxoid	Yes	282	84.4	
	No	52	15.6	
Child immunization	Yes	288	86.0	
	No	200 46	14.0	
Iron/folic acid provided	Ves	260	77.8	
non/tone acta provided	No	200	22.2	
Health advertion and montombin	INU	/4	22.2	-0.001*
<i>Health education and mentorsmp</i>	V	101	54.2	<0.001*
Recommendation for emergencies	Yes	181	54.2	
	No	153	45.8	
Instruction for delivery/Birth plan	Yes	277	82.9	
	No	57	17.1	
Recommendation for lactation/contraception	Yes	288	86.2	
	No	46	13.8	
Child danger signs	Yes	264	79.0	
	No	70	21.0	
Knowledge on 4 ANC visits	Yes	250	74.9	
	No	84	25.1	
No. of ANC visits	1	33	10.0	
	2	70	21.0	
	3	91	27.2	
	4	140	41.8	
ANC first visit	1 <sup>st</sup> trimester	161	48.2	
	2nd trimostor	1/2	10.2	
	2 rd trimester	20	+∠.0	
Complete entenetel cord	5 <sup></sup> trimester	212	9.0	
Complete antenatal card	res	312	93.4	
	No	22	6.6	
Return date	Yes	326	97.6	
	No	8	2.4	

### Table 4. 5 Healthcare service delivery processes

\_

\*Significant at p≤0.05

This study showed that performing clinical examination was more associated with MCH service quality (OR=11.33, 95%CI=2.55-3.35, p-value=0.001) as compared to not performing one. In support of this, respondent at key informant interview indicated thus; "*Most mothers are happy when you conduct a full clinical examination and recommend laboratory test, they feel they have been serviced well*". (*KII-006 Chulaimbo Hospital*)

Conducting laboratory investigations: malaria (OR=3.21, 95%CI=1.71-2.03, pvalue=<0.001, urine (OR=3.15, 95%CI=1.81-2.47, p-value=<0.001 and blood type test (OR=2.3, 95%CI=1.18-1.94, p-value=0.015) were more associated with MCH service quality while conducting syphilis test contributed less in MCH service quality (OR=0.17, 95%CI=0.04-0.80, p-value=0.025). Mothers receiving iron/folic supplements (OR=2.36, 95%CI=1.23-3.54, p-value=0.010) and child immunization (OR=1.82, 95%CI=0.62-1.30, p-value=0.027) were more associated with MCH service quality. Being offered health education and mentorship on: Recommendation for (OR=1.72, emergencies 95%CI=1.01-2.93, p-value=0.046), Instruction on delivery/Birth plan (OR=4.68, 95%CI=2.10-3.46, p-value=<0.001), Recommendation for lactation/contraception (OR=4.8, 95%CI=1.97-2.68, p=value=<0.001), child danger signs (OR=1.79, 95%CI=0.31-1.47, p-value=<0.001), knowledge on 4 ANC visits (OR=2.47, 95%CI=1.33-4.60, p-value=0.004) was more associated with MCH service quality as seen in Table 4.6. This is also seen in KII: "I have seen health education help mothers especially on contraceptive use and development of their individual birth plan, but we no longer conduct this as required because of increased workload and shortage of staff". (KII-004 Muhoroni Hospital)

Variables		N=334	%	aOR	95% CI	<i>P</i> -value	
Examination							
Clinical exam	Yes No	<b>305</b> 29	<b>91.3</b> 8.7	<b>11.33</b> Ref	2.55-3.35	0.001*	
Obstetric exam	Yes No	330 4	98.8 1.2	1.15 Ref	0.07-18.55	0.924	
Blood pressure	Yes No	329 5	98.5 1.5	2.29 Ref	0.20- 5.67	0.500	
Maternal Weight/Height	Yes	332 2	99.4 0.6	0.41 Ref	0.94 - 1.28	0.387	
Laboratory investigation	110	4	0.0	Rei			
Rapid syphilis test	Yes	313	93.7	0.17	0.04-0.80	0.025*	
	No	21	6.3	Ref			
HIV test	Yes	319	95.5	1.76	0.48-6.42	0.392	
	No	15	4.5	Ref			
Malaria test	Yes	247	74.0	3.21	1.71-2.03	<0.001*	
	No	87	26.0	Ref			
HB Test	Yes	330	98.8	1.15	0.07-1.55	0.924	
	No	4	1.2	Ref			
Urine test	Yes	193	57.8	3.15	1.81-2.47	<0.001*	
	No	141	42.2	Ref			
Blood type	Yes	265	79.3	2.3	1.18-1.94	0.015*	
	No	69	20.7	Ref			
Immunization and supplement provision	on						
Maternal Tetanus toxoid	Yes	282	84.4	1.9	0.91-3.96	0.088	
	No	52	15.6	Ref			
Child immunization	Yes	288	86.0	1.82	0.62-1.30	0.027*	
	No	46	14.0	Ref			
Iron/folic acid provided	Yes	260	77.8	2.36	1.23-3.54	0.010*	
	No	74	22.2	Ref			
Health education and mentorship		101				0.0464	
Recommendation for emergencies	Yes	181	54.2	1.72	1.01-2.93	0.046*	
	NO NZ	153	45.8	Ref	0 10 0 46	0.001*	
Instruction for delivery/Birth plan	Yes	211	82.9	4.0ð	2.10-3.40	<0.001*	
Decommondation for	NO Vog	5/ 100	1/.1	Ker 4 9	1 07 2 69	-0.001*	
Recommendation for	165	200	00.2	4.0	1.97-2.00	<0.001	
lactation/contraception	No	46	13.8	Ref			
Child danger signs	Ves	264	79.0	1 79	0 31-1 47	<b>~0 001*</b>	
China danger signs	No	70	21.0	Ref	0.01-1.47	<0.001	
Knowledge on 4 ANC visits	Yes	250	74.9	2.47	1 33-4 60	0.204	
	No	84	25.1	Ref	1.00 1.00	0.201	
No. of ANC visits	1	33	10.0	Ref			
	2	70	21.0	3.57	1.11-11.47	0.632	
	3	91	27.2	3.1	1.00-9.64	0.050	
	4	140	41.8	4.89	1.63-14.62	0.815	
ANC first visit	1 <sup>st</sup> trimester	161	48.2	Ref			
	2 <sup>nd</sup> trimester	143	42.8	0.91	0.52-1.58	0.728	
	3 <sup>rd</sup> trimester	30	9.0	0.35	0.12-1.00	0.05	
Complete antenatal card	Yes	312	93.4	1.33	0.46-3.81	0.591	
-	No	22	6.6	Ref			
Return date	Yes	326	97.6	1.71	0.28-10.42	0.562	
	No	8	2.4	Ref			

#### Table 4. 6 Association of service delivery processes and MCH service quality

aOR= adjusted odds ratio; \*Significant at  $p \le 0.05$ 

# 4.5 Healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County

The study sought to establish the healthcare structural aspects that are associated with MCH service quality. The specific structural aspects were grouped into 3 blocks: equipment (22 items), physical structures (7 items) and human resource for health (5 items). This was assessed for availability and adequacy (adequate-good quality or inadequate-poor quality) based on the recommended WHO standards, the Kenya Quality Model for Health framework (KQMH) and Kenya Health Sector Human Resources Strategy as seen in (Table 4.7).

	n=7	Proportion of health facilities with	
Structural components		Adequate (%)	Not adequate (%)
Physical structural aspects			
ANC Clinic	6	85.7	14.3
Post-natal Ward	6	85.7	14.3
FP Room	6	85.7	14.3
Nursing station	6	85.7	14.3
Ante-natal Ward	5	71.4	28.6
Theatre	3	42.9	57.1
Toilets	3	42.8	57.2
Human resources for health			
Nutritionist	6	85.7	14.3
Medical Officer	5	71.4	28.6
Pharm Technologists	3	42.8	57.2
Nursing officer(midwife)	1	14.3	85.7
Obstetrician/Gynaecologists	1	14.3	85.7
Equipment			
Linen trolley	6	85.7	14.3
BP Machine	5	71.4	28.6
Delivery coach	5	57.1	42.9
Stethoscope	5	57.1	42.9
Oxygen machine	5	57.0	43.0
Suction machine	5	57.0	43.0
Portal lamps/overhead	3	42.9	57.1
General trolley	3	42.9	57.1
Ultrasound	3	42.9	57.1
MUAC tape	3	42.9	57.1
Autoclave	3	42.8	57.2
Baby cots	3	42.8	57.2
Blood warmer	2	28.6	72.4
Ultrasonic Nebulizer	2	28.6	72.4
Rescucitaire	2	28.5	71.5
Speculum set	2	28.5	71.5
Infant radiant warmer	1	14.3	85.7
Phototherapy unit	1	14.3	85.7
Infant weighing scale	1	14.3	85.7
Telephone	1	14.3	85.7
Baby stethoscope	1	14.3	85.7
Nursery with incubator	1	14.3	85.7

### Table 4. 7 Proportion of healthcare structural aspects

Because PCA works best for correlated variables that necessitate dimensionality reduction, the variables were then subjected to Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy to ensure PCA is appropriate for them, the test returned a KMO score of 7.2, indicating that the sampling is adequate for PCA on these variables. The PCA was then run and the factor loadings were rotated by the varimax method to get a clearer pattern. Results from factor analysis shown in Table 4.8 demonstrates that all listed items under respective structural blocks (physical structure, human resource for health and equipment) had absolute values <0.4. Antenatal ward (0.3189), Medical Officer (0.3189), suction machine (0.2867) had the highest weights in their respective blocks followed by nursing station (0.2079), Nutritionist (0.2719) and ultrasound (0.2093) while most of the variables with lest weights were from equipment block as shown in Table 4.8.

Table 4. 8 Factor weights for	healthcare structural factors
-------------------------------	-------------------------------

	Structural aspects	
Α	Physical structural aspects	Factor weights
	Antenatal ward	0.3189
	Nursing station	0.2079
	Family Planning Room	0.2003
	Postnatal ward	0.1979
	Theatre	0.0484
	Toilets	-0.2090
	ANC Clinic	-0.2294
В	Human resources for health	
	Medical officer	0.3189
	Nutritionist	0.2719
	Obstetrician/Gynaecologists	0.0210
	Pharm Technologists	-0.0456
	Nursing officer(midwife)	-0.1299
С	Equipment	
	Suction machine	0.2867
	Ultrasound	0.2093
	General trolley	0.2001
	Rescucitaire	0.1970
	Speculum set	0.1715
	Portal lamps/overhead	0.1618
	Oxygen machine	0.0765
	Nursery with incubator	0.0354
	Baby stethoscope	0.0318
	BP Machine	0.0294
	Linen trolley	0.0277
	MUAC tape	0.0234
	Phototherapy unit	0.0210
	Blood warmer	0.0177
	Ultrasonic Nebulizer	-0.0545
	Infant radiant warmer	-0.2130
	Baby cots	-0.2262
	Stethoscope	-0.2273
	Telephone	-0.2273
	Infant weighing scale	-0.2289
	Autoclave	-0.2294
	Delivery coach	-0.2590
#### Performance of healthcare structural blocks using Factor Weights

Figure 4.1 shows that among the healthcare structural blocks in this study, human resources had the highest mean weight (0.087) which was the best performing health structural blocks as compared to the other two. Physical structure was second with a mean of (0.076).



#### Figure 4. 1 Mean of the health structural blocks

Health facilities with all the listed human resource personnel (i.e. Medical Officer, Nutritionist, obstetrician/ gynaecologists, nursing officers and pharmaceutical technologists) are twice more likely [aOR 2.16, CI=1.1548-4.0481 & p=0.016) to provide quality services compared to facilities without. In agreement with this a KII said:

"I still believe havng the right and adequate number of healthcare workers is the most critical thing the government can do if quality services is to be achieved." (KII-001 Kisumu County Referral Hospital)

"Staffing is the main thing in quality services, we have seeen health facilities with good infrastructure with very few or wrong combination of staff and they have performed dismally in terms of service delivery".(KII-007 Kombewa Hospital)

Factors	Adjusted Odds	n voluo	[95% Confidence Interval]		
r actors	Ratio	p-value	Lower CI	Upper CI	
Structural factors					
Equipment	Ref				
Physical structures	0.5891	0.1020	0.3127	1.1099	
Human Resource	2.1621	0.0160*	1.1548	4.0481	

 Table 4. 9 Logistic Regression with structural blocks (Physical aspect, Human

 Resource and Equipment)

aOR= adjusted odds ratio; \*Significant at  $p \le 0.05$ 

## CHAPTER FIVE DISCUSSION

# 5.1 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities, Kisumu County.

The findings showed that mothers aged between 30-39 years were less likely to report having received MCH service quality. Whereas evidence for the role of ageing as a determinant of differential access to quality healthcare is still weak. Mothers older than 30 years have consistently report decreased MCH service quality and low service uptake (Sadoon *et al.*, 2020). Another study finding done in Ghana similarly showed that age of expectant mother influences the utilization of ANC services whereby the older the pregnant mother, the more unlikely she is to report having received MCH service quality (Akowuah *et al.*, 2018).

Findings of this study also showed mothers that had one and two pregnancies (para 1&2) were more likely to report of having received MCH service quality. This agrees with a study done by Kifle *et al.*, (2017) which showed mothers who had given birth six or more times were less likely to report having received MCH service quality as compared to those with 1<sup>st</sup> pregnancy or those who had one child. A study done in Kwale revealed similar results with multiparous mothers being more likely to initiate MCH services earlier compared to grand multiparous mothers (Wekesa *et al.*, 2018). This could be because of higher expectation by grand multiparous mothers from the healthcare system having visited health facilities severally in their previous pregnancies.

In this study women who had partners aged 40-49 years were more likely to report of having received MCH service quality as compared with other age groups. This finding

is contrary to a study done by Odeny et al., (2019) which found out that a mother having a male partner who was younger increased the male partner's likelihood of attending MCH clinics or offering necessary support that might influence mother's uptake of services. The differences in findings could be because the study population in Odeny et al study was mothers visiting MCH at week 6/month 9 and the study site was northern Kenya which faces difficult environmental, social and infrastructural challenges. This is the same with another study done in Kenya which showed older partners may influence the quality of MCH services negatively (Mochache et al., 2018). According to the current study findings, mothers residing in rural areas were more likely to report having received MCH service quality as compared to those in Urban centers. This finding is consistent with a study done by Sun et al., (2019) which showed that more than half of the rural residents preferred primary care facilities as their initial contact for medical care services as compared with the urban residents. Generally, the County Health referral system and linkages between the lower and higher levels of care are weak, consequently more patients seeking care bypass the lower-level health facilities due to perceived lower quality services (Kamau et al., 2017). This could also be because rural folks prefer the main referral facilities and hence frequently bypass the lower facilities, while urban dwellers have other options to compare with (Akwanalo et al., 2019).

Mothers who used motorized means of transport to the health facility were more likely to report of having received MCH service quality as compared to those who used bicycles to the health facility. Similar findings have shown that using faster means of transport i.e., vehicles/motorbikes increase like hood of mothers receiving MCH service quality (Tanou *et al.*, 2021; Sacks *et al.*, 2016).

62

# 5.2 Healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.

According to the study findings, healthcare worker's marital status was associated with MCH quality services, with those not married being less likely to offer MCH service quality as compared to their married counterparts. This finding is contrary to a study done by Rana *et al.*, (2021) which showed married healthcare workers might not be providing quality services since most of their time is spent on family issues hence affecting their ability of self-skills capacity building and commitment to the patients. This difference in findings could be because Rana study focused only on nurses and the Country's top referral hospital while this study looked at other cadres of healthcare workers and middle level referral hospitals.

University graduate's healthcare workers were likely to provide quality services as compared to Diploma graduates from KMTC. This could be informed by the scope of training at the universities. However, there is still limited consensus across studies on reasons for variance in health practice due to background training. A study done by Couper *et al.*, (2018). which showed professional qualification of healthcare workers is important, with highly trained personnel more likely to perform better in the technical aspects of quality healthcare. Another study done by Christiansen *et al.*, (2018) also showed that university level training and certification of skilled personnel, positively affected MCH service quality across the continuum, however it disagrees with a study done in South Africa which showed mentorship among nursing graduates improved their skills in management of MCH emergencies, research aspects and organizational management regardless of the level of education (Lekhuleni *et al.*, 2019). The disagreement could be because Lekhuleni study focused on fourth year nursing students

and nurses on internship who were on practical attachment. In a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized, quasi-randomized controlled trials, interrupted time series studies, Patel *et al.*, (2017) showed better medical practice among staff with less medical qualifications as compared to those with high academic qualifications. Improved work performance among healthcare workers with less educational qualification could also be attributed to work experience, exposure to the right equipment and work environment in terms of building individual capacity to provide quality service since medicine is an art and one perfects his/her skills through practice.

Healthcare workers' workload influenced MCH service quality. Those attending to between 5 -10 clients in a day were more likely to offer quality services as compared with those having higher workload. Similar findings were observed in a study conducted in Kenya and Namibia which showed higher workload was consistently associated with service quality, largely because of psychological pressure (Do et al., 2017). On the other hand, this study demonstrated that healthcare workers working in a section/department for over 6 months were more likely to offer MCH service quality. This is similar to a study done in Ethiopia which showed increased effectiveness in healthcare workers who have worked in a department for longer periods (Merga *et al.,* 2019). This could be because of mastery on art of service delivery and understanding the mothers and the requirement of the department in service delivery.

# 5.3 Healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.

The findings showed that clinical examination of mothers enhanced MCH service quality. This finding is consistent with a study done by Goyet *et al.*, (2020) which

showed clinical competencies and performance of maternity and new-born care services among providers positively influences the quality of healthcare. In a study done by Asif *et al.*, (2017) clinical examination was one of the main determinants of MCH service quality. Similarly, a study done in Mozambique suggested service providers need to equip themselves with the necessary clinical examination skill if MCH service quality is to be achieved (Pires *et al.*, 2020). Another study using mixed methods design however, indicated that the outcome of clinical examination is dependent on clients' perception (Magge *et al.*, 2017).

Laboratory investigations – rapid syphilis test, blood type test, malaria and urine tests but not HIV and HB testing were significantly associated with MCH service quality. This is similar to a study done by Plebani *et al.*, (2019) which showed that conducting laboratory investigations to mothers is associated with improved MCH service quality. But the significant lower odds for syphilis test in this study was unexplained. This finding could be attributed to the complementary part played by laboratory investigation in supporting mothers' treatment.

This study also showed that provision of iron/folic acid supplements, immunization and health education were consistent with MCH service quality, similar to Adamu, *et al.*, (2019); Frage, *et al.*, (2019) and Khatri, *et al.*, 2021). This could also be because of the trust and confidence developed between the healthcare worker and the mother because of one-on-one communication and/or differential client inclinations to preventive services

# 5.4 Healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.

The study examined healthcare structural aspects to enable objective evaluation of MCH service quality in tier 3 public health facilities of Kisumu County. This was necessary since the mothers' viewpoint only is less likely to reflect accurately on structural aspects of service provision functions as examined in this study.

This study has shown that most of the tier three health facilities of Kisumu County still lack structural aspects. A deeper analysis revealed having adequate human resources for health contributed twice more to MCH service quality as compared to equipment. This could be because human resources health interacts directly with clients providing the necessary human touch and feelings that is required (Saw *et al.*, 2019). Having the correct and adequate human resources for health interventions is more productive in ensuring improvement of quality of maternity services and provision of service providers' allowances and incentives including strengthening of other components of healthcare to support human resources (Negero, et al., 2021). Engagement with healthcare workers is particularly important for mothers from economically poor households, whereas having a stable human resource for health and avoiding high staff turnover improves staff ability to provide optimal care. (Rammohan et al., 2021). However, there are concerns about using human resources for health as a measure of MCH service quality and instead a multi-dimensional approach into health system quality measurement of processes and outcomes is desirable (Leslie, et al., 2017). Having sufficient and equitably distribution of human resources for health to match the increasing demand plays an active role in ensuring efficiency and accountability which are essential in realizing MCH service quality.

#### **CHAPTER SIX**

#### SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### 6.1 Summary of findings

# 6.1.1 Mothers' socio-economic and demographic characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities, Kisumu County

Older mothers aged between 30-39 years and multiparous were less likely to report having received MCH service quality. Mothers residing in rural area were likely to report having received MCH service quality compared with those in urban setting. Mothers with older partners (40-45 years) were more likely to report having received MCH service quality compared with those who had young partners. This could be because of the nature of support provided by these partners to the mothers.

# 6.1.2 Healthcare workers' characteristics associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.

The healthcare workers with university degree as basic training were more likely to offer MCH service quality compared with those with Diploma qualifications. Having HND did not contribute to service quality despite them being specialist. Healthcare workers that have worked in one section/department for 6 months were more likely to offer MCH service quality as compared to that had worked for less than 6 months.

# 6.1.3 Healthcare service delivery processes associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.

Clinical examination, child immunization, health education and mentorship (Child danger signs, birth plan development, emergencies, knowledge about ANC, contraception) were more associated with MCH service quality. Mothers reported laboratory investigation specifically Syphilis test not to have contributed to MCH service quality.

# 6.1.4 Healthcare structural factors associated with MCH service quality in tier three public health facilities of Kisumu County.

This study showed that most of the tier three health facilities of Kisumu County still lack structural aspects. It also revealed having adequate and correct mix of Medical Officer, Nutritionist, obstetrician/gynaecologist, nursing officer and pharmaceutical technologist contributed more to MCH service quality as compared to equipment and physical structures. However Antenatal ward, suction machine and ultrasound had higher factor weights and compared to theatre.

#### **6.2** Conclusions

- Older mothers 30-39 years were less likely to rate to have received MCH service quality while low parity and rural place of residence acknowledge to have received MCH service quality. This finding will have an implication on MCH program implementation with strategies developed to target older mothers, multiparous and those from urban areas with promotional messages.
- 2. The healthcare workers with university degree were more likely to offer MCH service quality as compared to Diploma holders, this is contrary to previous studies which showed Diploma healthcare workers provided quality services. Also, this study showed having Higher National Diploma did not make one offer quality services which again contradicts previous studies and the believe that HND healthcare workers who are specialist offer quality services. This study affirms that experience contributes to MCH service quality, but it however lowers the threshold from previous studies of 2-3years to 6 months which is likely to change how staff are recruited based on work experience.

- 3. Performing clinical examination, laboratory investigations, providing child immunization and health education services were more associated with MCH service quality. This study identifies laboratory investigations i.e Syphilis test as one perceived by mothers not to have been associated with MCH service quality. This might explain why the Country has low Syphilis testing coverage which might require MCH program strategic interventions to educate mothers on the importance of this test.
- 4. Having Human resource for health specifically Medical Officer, Nursing Officer, Nutritionist, Obstetrician/gynaecologist, Pharmaceutical Technologist) contributed more to MCH service quality as compared to physical structures and equipment. This finding will help investors and County government re-think on health investment from the rampant physical buildings to Human resource. Availability of Antenatal ward, suction machine and ultrasound had higher factor weights as compared to Theatre which is popularly known to contribute to MCH service quality. This study findings goes against the popularly known believe that for quality service to be achieved physical buildings is required.

As Kisumu County is implementing her County Integrated and Development plan (2018-2022) this study findings can guide on healthcare structural investment that can be undertaken to achieve MCH service quality.

#### 6.3 Recommendation for programmatic and strategic actions

- Have a targeted approach in MCH service quality for individuals at the tail-end of the reproductive age-groups who also represent a high-risk group since their low valuation or satisfaction with MCH services quality needs attention.
- 2. The County government of Kisumu and other stakeholders need to put in place strategies to encourage Health care workers to seek higher education/upgrade through in-service trainings including provision of scholarships and study leaves.
- 3. Have health education on the importance of Syphilis testing and ensure this is provided to mothers in a professional and acceptable way. The County government should not relent but upscale health education in tier three public health facilities.
- 4. The County government should ensure adequate and correct mix of human resources for health (Medical Officers, Nursing Officer, Nutritionist, Obstetrician/gynaecologist, Pharmaceutical Technologists) at tier three public health facilities. Implementation of the Kisumu CIDP on healthcare investment should focus more on human resources for health, Antenatal wards, suction machines and ultrasound.

This study finding can provide the basis for the Country/Counties to start thinking about development MCH service quality policies/strategies targeting the tier three public health facilities which is nonexistence at the moment instead of having generalized policies, yet tier three public health facilities have unique challenges since they are referral health facilities and handle the bulk of MCH services.

### 6.4 Recommendations for Future Studies

- 1. It could be of interest to examine factors influence MCH service quality uptake among older women, those at tail end of reproductive age.
- 2. To have a comprehensive view of MCH service quality, further study can be done to assess the community determinants of MCH service quality.

#### REFERENCES

- Adamu, A. A., Uthman, O. A., Wambiya, E. O., Gadanya, M. A., & Wiysonge, C. S. (2019).
  Application of quality improvement approaches in health-care settings to reduce missed opportunities for childhood vaccination: a scoping review. *Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics*.
- Adde, K. S., Dickson, K. S., & Amu, H. (2020). Prevalence and determinants of the place of delivery among reproductive age women in sub–Saharan Africa. *Plos one*, 15(12), e0244875.
- Adhikari, R. P., Shrestha, M. L., Satinsky, E. N., & Upadhaya, N. (2021). Trends in and determinants of visiting private health facilities for maternal and child health care in Nepal: comparison of three Nepal demographic health surveys, 2006, 2011, and 2016. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 21(1), 1-10.
- Akowuah, J. A., Agyei-Baffour, P., & Awunyo-Vitor, D. (2018). Determinants of antenatal healthcare utilisation by pregnant women in third trimester in peri-urban Ghana. *Journal of Tropical Medicine*, *11*(6),8-16.
- Akwanalo, C., Njuguna, B., Mercer, T., Pastakia, S. D., Mwangi, A., Dick, J., & Naanyu, V. (2019). Strategies for effective stakeholder engagement in strengthening referral networks for management of hypertension across health systems in Kenya. *Global Heart*, 14(2), 173-179.
- Asif, T., Mohiuddin, A., Hasan, B., & Pauly, R. R. (2017). Importance of Thorough Physical Examination: A Lost Art. *Cureus*, 9(5), e1212. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.1212
- Asratie, M. H., Muche, A. A., & Geremew, A. B. (2020). Completion of maternity continuum of care among women in the post-partum period: Magnitude and associated factors in the Northwest, Ethiopia. *PloS one*, 15(8), e0237980.

- Baker, U., Petro, A., Marchant, T., Peterson, S., Manzi, F., Bergström, A., & Hanson, C. (2018).
  Health workers' experiences of collaborative quality improvement for maternal and newborn care in rural Tanzanian health facilities: A process evaluation using the integrated' Promoting Action on Research Implementation in Health Services' framework. *PLoS One*, *13*(12), e0209092.
- Baschieri, A., Gordeev, V. S., Akuze, J., Kwesiga, D., Blencowe, H., Cousens, S., & Lawn, J. E.
  (2019). "Every Newborn-INDEPTH" (EN-INDEPTH) study protocol for a randomised comparison of household survey modules for measuring stillbirths and neonatal deaths in five Health and Demographic Surveillance sites. *Journal of Global Health*, 9(1).
- Benzer, J. K., Charns, M. P., Hamdan, S., & Afable, M. (2017). The role of organizational structure in readiness for change: A conceptual integration. Health services management research, 30(1), 34-46.
- Bergerum, C., Engström, A. K., Thor, J., & Wolmesjö, M. (2020). Patient involvement in quality improvement-a 'tug of war'or a dialogue in a learning process to improve healthcare? *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 1-13.
- Billah, S. M., Chowdhury, M. A. K., Khan, A. N. S., Karim, F., Hassan, A., Zaka, N., & Manu,
  A. (2019). Quality of care during childbirth at public health facilities in Bangladesh: a cross-sectional study using WHO/UNICEF 'Every Mother Every Newborn (EMEN)'standards. *BMJ Open Quality*, 8(3), e000596.
- Bolan, N., Cowgill, K. D., Walker, K., Kak, L., Shaver, T., Moxon, S., & Lincetto, O. (2021).
  Human resources for health-related challenges to ensuring quality newborn care in lowand middle-income countries: a scoping review. *Global Health: Science and Practice*, 9(1), 160-176.

- Brizuela V, Tunçalp Ö. (2017). Global initiatives in maternal and newborn health. *Obstetric Medicine*, 10,21–25
- Carvajal–Aguirre, L., Amouzou, A., Mehra, V., Ziqi, M., Zaka, N., & Newby, H. (2017). Gap between contact and content in maternal and newborn care: An analysis of data from 20 countries in sub–Saharan Africa. *Journal of Global Health*, 7(2).
- Chichirez, C. M., & Purcărea, V. L. (2018). Interpersonal communication in healthcare. *Journal* of Medicine and Life, 11(2), 119–122.
- Christiansen, A., Jacob, E., & Twigg, D. (2018). Is it time to consider a four-year Nursing Bachelor Degree in Australia? A discussion paper. *Collegian*, 25(5), 567-571.

Cochran, W.G. (1977). Sampling techniques (3<sup>rd</sup> Ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Coles, E., Anderson, J., Maxwell, M., Harris, F. M., Gray, N. M., Milner, G., & MacGillivray,S. (2020). The influence of contextual factors on healthcare quality improvement initiatives: a realist review. *Systematic reviews*, *9*, 1-22.

County Government of Kisumu, Kenya (2017). County fact sheet, 2017. Kisumu, Kenya

- County Government of Kisumu, Kenya (2018). *Kisumu County Integrated Development Plan II*, 2018-2022. Kisumu, Kenya.
- Couper, I., Ray, S., Blaauw, D., Ng'wena, G., Muchiri, L., Oyungu, E., & Fonn, S. (2018).
   Curriculum and training needs of mid-level health workers in Africa: a situational review from Kenya, Nigeria, S-Africa and Uganda. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1),1-12.
- Dalinjong, P. A., Wang, A. Y., & Homer, C. S. (2018). Are health facilities well equipped to provide basic quality childbirth services under the free maternal health policy? Findings from rural Northern Ghana. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 959.
- Day, L. T., Rahman, Q. S. U., Rahman, A. E., Salim, N., Ashish, K. C., Ruysen, H., & Naresh,P. K. (2021). Assessment of the validity of the measurement of newborn and maternal

health-care coverage in hospitals (EN-BIRTH): an observational study. *The Lancet Global Health*, 9(3), e267-e279.

- Do, M., Wang, W., Hembling, J., & Ametepi, P. (2017). Quality of antenatal care and client satisfaction in Kenya and Namibia. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 29(2), 183-193.
- Donabedian, A. (2003). *An introduction to quality assurance in health care*. (1st ed., Vol. 1). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Egieyeh, E., van Huyssteen, M., Coetzee, R., & Bheekie, A. (2021). Evaluating pharmacy students' knowledge and skills in reproductive, maternal, new-born and child health care at a South African university. *BMC Medical Education*, *21*(1), 1-16.
- Emiru, A. A., Alene, G. D., & Debelew, G. T. (2020). Women's satisfaction with the quality of antenatal care services rendered at public health facilities in Northwest Ethiopia: the application of partial proportional odds model. *BMJ open*, *10*(9), e037085.
- Escamilla, V., Calhoun, L., Winston, J., & Speizer, I. S. (2018). The role of distance and quality on facility selection for maternal and child health services in urban Kenya. *Journal of Urban Health*, 95(1), 1-12.
- Frage, A. M. M., Ahmed, H. R. M., & Osman, F. F. A. (2019). The role of health education in promoting utilization of mother and child health services in Khartoum North–Sudan. *International Journal of Innovative Research in Science, Engineering and Technology*, 8(4) 3935- 3943.
- Gitobu, C. M., Gichangi, P. B., & Mwanda, W. O. (2018). The effect of Kenya's free maternal health care policy on the utilization of health facility delivery services and maternal and neonatal mortality in public health facilities. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1), 1-11.

- Goyet, S., Rajbhandari, S., Alvarez, V. B., Bayou, A., Khanal, S., & Pokhrel, T. N. (2020). Onsite clinical mentoring as a maternal and new-born care quality improvement method: evidence from a nurse cohort study in Nepal. *BMC Nursing*, 19(1), 1-12.
- Gwijangge, R., Indar, M. A. A., Sukri, H. A., & Salmah, A. U. (2021). Effect of quality in maternal and child health (MCH) service on the satisfaction of mother in Puskesmas Kenyamnduga District. *PalArch's Journal of Archaeology of Egypt/Egyptology*, 18(7), 2571-2580.
- Haley, C. A., Brault, M. A., Mwinga, K., Desta, T., Ngure, K., Kennedy, S. B., & Kipp, A. M. (2019). Promoting progress in child survival across four African countries: the role of strong health governance and leadership in maternal, neonatal and child health. *Health Policy and Planning*, 34(1), 24-36.
- Howard-Grabman, L., Miltenburg, A. S., Marston, C., & Portela, A. (2017). Factors affecting effective community participation in maternal and newborn health programme planning, implementation and quality interventions. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 17(1), 268.
- Jalali-Farahani, S., Amiri, P., Bakht, S., Shayeghian, Z., Cheraghi, L., & Azizi, F. (2017). Sociodemographic determinants of health-related quality of life in Tehran lipid and glucose study (TLGS). *International Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 15(4), e14548. doi:10.5812/ijem.14548.
- Jolivet, R. R., Moran, A. C., O'Connor, M., Chou, D., Bhardwaj, N., Newby, H., & Langer, A. (2018). Ending preventable maternal mortality: phase II of a multi-step process to develop monitoring framework, 2016–2030. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1),1-13.
- Jonas, K., Crutzen, R., van den Borne, B., & Reddy, P. (2017). Healthcare workers' behaviors and personal determinants associated with providing adequate sexual and reproductive

healthcare services in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 17(1), 1-19.

- Kabatooro, A., Ndoboli, F., & Namatovu, J. (2016). Patient satisfaction with medical consultations among adults attending Mulago hospital assessment centre. *South African Family Practice*, 58(3), 87-93.
- Kamau, K. J., Osuga, B. O., & Njuguna, S. (2017). Challenges facing implementation of referral system for quality health care services in Kiambu county, Kenya. *Health Research Policy and Systems 4*(1).
- Kanyangarara, M., Munos, M. K., & Walker, N. (2017). Quality of antenatal care service provision in health facilities across sub–Saharan Africa: Evidence from nationally representative health facility assessments. *Journal of Global Health*, 7(2).
- Kenya District Health Information Software. *https://hiskenya.org/dhis-web-commons/security/login.action;jsessionid=9FAC310092C66453A459E06DF19CDB91*
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (Kenya). 2014. Kenya Demographic and Health Survey. Nairobi.
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (Kenya). 2019. Kenya Population and Housing Census. Nairobi.
- Khatri, B., Grurung, S., & Kachapati, A. (2021). Utilization of maternal and child health services among women admitted in maternity ward of a Hospital of Siddharthanagar Municipality. *Journal of Universal College of Medical Sciences*, 9(01), 71-75.
- Kifle, D., Azale, T., Gelaw, Y. A., & Melsew, Y. A. (2017). Maternal health care service seeking behaviors and associated factors among women in rural Haramaya District, Eastern Ethiopia: a triangulated community-based cross-sectional study. *Reproductive health*, 14(1), 6.

- Kisiangani, I., Elmi, M., Bakibinga, P., Mohamed, S. F., Kisia, L., Kibe, P. M., & Ziraba, A. K.
  (2020). Persistent barriers to the use of maternal, newborn and child health services in Garissa sub-county, Kenya: a qualitative study. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 20, 1-12.
- Krippendorff, K. (2018). *Content analysis: an introduction to its methodology*. London, U.K: Sage publications.
- Kruk, M. E., Gage, A. D., Arsenault, C., Jordan, K., Leslie, H. H., Roder-DeWan, S., & English,
  M. (2018). High-quality health systems in the Sustainable Development Goals era: time for a revolution. *The Lancet Global Health*, 6(11), e1196-e1252.
- Kruk, M. E., Kelley, E., Syed, S. B., Tarp, F., Addison, T., & Akachi, Y. (2017). Measuring quality of health-care services: what is known and where are the gaps? *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 95(6), 389.
- Lang'at, E., Mwanri, L., & Temmerman, M. (2019). Effects of free maternity service policy in Kenya: an interrupted time series analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*, 7, S21.
- Lekhuleni, M. E., & Thopola, M. K. (2019). Impediments of optimal midwifery experiential learning environments in maternity units of public hospitals. *Journal of Pregnancy and Newborncare*, 2(1).
- Leslie, H. H., Gage, A., Nsona, H., Hirschhorn, L. R., & Kruk, M. E. (2016). Training and supervision did not meaningfully improve quality of care for pregnant women or sick children in sub-Saharan Africa. *Health Affairs*, 35(9), 1716-1724.
- Leslie, H. H., Sun, Z., & Kruk, M. E. (2017). Association between infrastructure and observed quality of care in 4 healthcare services: A cross-sectional study of 4,300 facilities in 8 countries. *PLoS medicine*, *14*(12).

- Lusambili, A. M., Naanyu, V., Wade, T. J., Mossman, L., Mantel, M., Pell, R., & Temmerman,M. (2019). Deliver on Your Own: Disrespectful Maternity Care in rural Kenya. *BioRxiv*, 586693.
- Lythgoe, C., Lowe, K., McCauley, M., & McCauley, H. (2021). How women's experiences and perceptions of care influence uptake of postnatal care across sub-Saharan Africa: a qualitative systematic review. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, *21*(1), 1-11.
- Magge, H., Chilengi, R., Jackson, E. F., Wagenaar, B. H., & Kante, A. M. (2017). Tackling the hard problems: implementation experience and lessons learned in newborn health from the African Health Initiative. *BMC health services research*, *17*(3), 39-52.
- Masaba, B. B., & Mmusi-Phetoe, R. M. (2020). Free Maternal Health Care Policy in Kenya; Level of Utilization and Barriers. *International Journal of Africa Nursing Sciences*, 13, 100234.
- Marks, F., Rabehanta, N., Baker, S., Panzner, U., Park, S. E., Fobil, J. N., & Rakotozandrindrainy, R. (2016). A way forward for healthcare in Madagascar? *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 62(suppl\_1), S76-S79.
- Maung, T. M., Mon, N. O., Mehrtash, H., Bonsaffoh, K. A., Vogel, J. P., Aderoba, A. K., & Bohren, M. A. (2021). Women's experiences of mistreatment during childbirth and their satisfaction with care: findings from a multicountry community-based study in four countries. *BMJ Global Health*, 5(Suppl 2), e003688.
- Mbugua, S., & MacQuarrie, K. L. D. (2018). Maternal Health Indicators in High-Priority Counties of Kenya. *DHS Further Analysis Reports*, (110).
- Mekbib, T., & Leatherman, S. (2020). Quality improvement in maternal, neonatal and child health services in sub-Saharan Africa: a look at five resource-poor countries. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Development*, *34*(1).

Merga, H., & Fufa, T. (2019). Impacts of working environment and benefits packages on the health professionals' job satisfaction in selected public health facilities in eastern Ethiopia: using principal component analysis. BMC Health Services Research, 19(1),1-8.

Ministry of Health (Kenya). 2013. Free Maternity Services Policy. Nairobi, Kenya.

- Ministry of Health (Kenya). 2019. Devolved HRM policy guidelines on human Resources for Health 2015-2020. Nairobi, Kenya.
- Ministry of Health (Kenya). 2018a. Kenya Health Sector Strategic and Investment Plan 2018-2023. Nairobi, Kenya.
- Ministry of Health (Kenya). 2018b. Kenya Quality Model for Health 2018-2022. Nairobi, Kenya.
- Ministry of Health (Kenya). 2016. Kenya Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health (RMNCAH) Investment Framework. Nairobi, Kenya.
- Ministry of Health (Kenya). 2022. The National Reproductive Health Policy 2022 2032. Nairobi, Kenya.
- Mochache, V., Lakhani, A., El-Busaidy, H., Temmerman, M., & Gichangi, P. (2018). Correlates of facility-based delivery among women of reproductive age from the Digo community residing in Kwale, Kenya. *BMC research notes, 11*(1), 1-6.
- Mwangi, W., Gachuno, O., Desai, M., Obor, D., Were, V., Odhiambo, F., & Laserson, K. F. (2018). Uptake of skilled attendance along the continuum of care in rural Western Kenya: selected analysis from Global Health initiative survey-2012. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1), 1-13.
- Negero, M. G., Sibbritt, D., & Dawson, A. (2021). How can human resources for health interventions contribute to sexual, reproductive, maternal, and newborn healthcare

quality across the continuum in low-and lower-middle-income countries? A systematic review. *Human Resources for Health*, *19*(1), 1-28.

- Nguhiu, P. K., Barasa, E. W., & Chuma, J. (2017). Determining the effective coverage of maternal and child health services in Kenya, using demographic and health survey data sets: tracking progress towards universal health coverage. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 22(4), 442-453.
- Odeny, B., McGrath, C. J., Langat, A., Pintye, J., Singa, B., Kinuthia, J., & John-Stewart, G. (2019). Male partner antenatal clinic attendance is associated with increased uptake of maternal health services and infant BCG immunization: a national survey in Kenya. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 19*(1), 1-9.
- OECD/WHO/World Bank Group (2018), Delivering Quality Health Services: A Global Imperative, WHO, Geneva, https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264300309-en.
- Ogbuabor, D. C., & Onwujekwe, O. E. (2018). Implementation of free maternal and child healthcare policies: assessment of influence of context and institutional capacity of health facilities in south-East Nigeria. *Global Health Action*, *11*(1), 1535031.
- Ogu, R. N., & Alegbeleye, J. O. (2018). Improving maternal health: Women's attitude to antenatal care utilization is crucial. *Clinical Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Medicine*, 4(1), 1-3.
- Orangi, S., Kairu, A., Ondera, J., Mbuthia, B., Koduah, A., Oyugi, B., & Barasa, E. (2021). Examining the implementation of the Linda Mama free maternity program in Kenya. *The International Journal of Health Planning and Management*, 36(6), 2277-2296.
- Patel, A., Khatib, M. N., Kurhe, K., Bhargava, S., & Bang, A. (2017). Impact of neonatal resuscitation trainings on neonatal and perinatal mortality: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *BMJ Paediatrics Open*, 1(1).

- Pires, P., Mupueleque, M. A., Mucufo, J. R., Zakus, D., Siemens, R., & Belo, C. (2022). An analysis of the quality of maternity services in Nampula, Mozambique: implementation research. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 41.
- Plebani, M., Laposata, M., & Lippi, G. (2019). Driving the route of laboratory medicine: a manifesto for the future. *Internal and Emergency Medicine*, *14*(3), 337-340.
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2017). Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice (10th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Rana, R. U., Akter, S., Khatun, S., Sinha, I., & Islam, M.T. (2021). Level of Knowledge about the maternal health services among the Register nurses of tertiary level of hospital in Sylhet City. *Himalayan Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health*, 2(3), 12-16.
- Rammohan, A., Goli, S., Saroj, S. K., & Jaleel, C. A. (2021). Does engagement with frontline health workers improve maternal and child healthcare utilisation and outcomes in India? *Human Resources for Health*, 19(1), 1-21.
- Sacks, E., Vail, D., Austin-Evelyn, K., Greeson, D., Atuyambe, L. M., Macwan'gi, M., & Grépin, K. A. (2016). Factors influencing modes of transport and travel time for obstetric care: a mixed methods study in Zambia and Uganda. *Health Policy and Planning*, 31(3), 293-301.
- Sadoon, A. T., & Bahir, B. H. (2020). Evaluation of Women's Satisfaction Regarding MCH Services Provided in Health Care Centers with High Maternal and Infant Mortality Rate in Wassit Governorate. *Diyala Journal of Medicine*, 18(1), 35-47.
- Sakuma, S., Yasuoka, J., Phongluxa, K., & Jimba, M. (2019). Determinants of continuum of care for maternal, newborn, and child health services in rural Khammouane, Lao PDR. *PloS one*, 14(4), e0215635.

- Saw, Y. M., Than, T. M., Thaung, Y., Aung, S., Shiao, L. W. S., Win, E. M., & Saw, T. N. (2019). Myanmar's human resources for health: current situation and its challenges. *Heliyon*, 5(3), e01390.
- Sharma, J., Leslie, H. H., Kundu, F., & Kruk, M. E. (2017). Poor quality for poor women? Inequities in the quality of antenatal and delivery care in Kenya. *PLoS One*, 12(1), e0171236.
- Sheffel, A. L. (2019). Quality of Antenatal Care Services in Low-Income Countries: Investigating Its Meaning and Measurement (Doctoral dissertation, Johns Hopkins University).
- Simson, R. (2019). Africa's clientelist budget policies revisited: public expenditure and employment in Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda. *The Economic History Review*, 72(4), 1409-1438.
- Sudhinaraset, M., Afulani, P., Diamond-Smith, N., Bhattacharyya, S., Donnay, F., & Montagu,D. (2017). Advancing conceptual model to improve maternal health quality: The Person-Centered Care Framework for Reproductive Health Equity. *Gates Open Research*, 1.
- Sun X, Meng H, Ye Z, Conner KO, Duan Z, Liu D (2019) Factors associated with the choice of primary care facilities for initial treatment among rural and urban residents in Southwestern China. *PLoS ONE 14*(2): e0211984. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0211984
- Tama, E., Molyneux, S., Waweru, E., Tsofa, B., Chuma, J., & Barasa, E. (2018). Examining the implementation of the free maternity services policy in Kenya: a mixed methods process evaluation. *International Journal of Health Policy and Management*, 7(7), 603.
- UNICEF. (2020). Annual report on the implementation of the UNICEF Gender Action Plan, 2018–2021.

- UNICEF (2020). Ending Preventable Newborn Deaths and Stillbirths by 2030: Moving Faster Towards High-Quality Universal Health Coverage in 2020–2025. WHO; 2020. Accessed March 23, 2021. https://www.unicef.org/media/ 77166/file/Ending-preventable-newborndeaths-and-stillbirths-by2030-universal-health-coverage-in-2020%E2%80%932025.pdf
- UNICEF. (2017). Committing to Child Survival: A Promise Renewed Progress Report 2017, Legacy and Lessons. New York, NY: UNICEF.
- USAID. (2020). Kenya Country Development Cooperation Strategy (CDCS), 2020-2025. Nairobi, Kenya.
- Vogel, J. P., Chawanpaiboon, S., Moller, A. B., Watananirun, K., Bonet, M., & Lumbiganon, P.
  (2018). The global epidemiology of preterm birth. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 52, 3-12.
- Wekesa, N. M., Wanjihia, V., Makokha, A., Lihana, R. W., Ngeresa, J. A., Kaneko, S., & Karama, M. (2018). High parity and low education are predictors of late antenatal care initiation among women in maternal and child health clinics in Kwale County, Kenya. *Journal of Health, Medicine and Nursing, 50.*
- WHO. (2016): Standards for improving quality of maternal and newborn care in health facilities, Geneva.
- WHO. (2019a). Sustainable Development Goals. Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/ topics/sustainable development goals.

WHO. (2019b). The global strategy for women's, children's and adolescents' health, 2016– 2030. https://www.who.int/life-course/partners/ global-strategy/ewecglobalstrategyreport-200915.pdf? ua=1.

WHO. (2019c). UNFPA, World Bank Group, United Nations Population Division. Trends in maternal mortality 2000 to 2017: estimates by WHO, UNICEF.

- WHO. (2022). Tracking Universal Health Coverage in the WHO African Region. Brazzaville, Congo.
- Yaya, S., Bishwajit G., & Gunawardena N. (2019). Socioeconomic factors associated with choice of delivery place among mothers: a population-based cross-sectional study in Guinea-Bissau. *BMJ Global Health*, 4: e001341.

## **APPENDICES**



### APPENDIX 1: KISUMU COUNTY MAP

#### **APPENDIX 2: CONSENT LETTER**

Dear Participant,

I invite you to participate in a research study entitled: The determinants of quality of maternal child health services in the tier 3 public health facilities of Kisumu County after the declaration of free maternal health care.

I am currently enrolled in Maseno University School of Public Health and am in the process of writing my PhD Thesis. The purpose of the research is to determine of Maternal Child Health (MCH) service quality in Kisumu County and the enclosed questionnaire has been designed to collect this information.

Your participation in this research project is completely voluntary. You may decline altogether or leave blank any questions you don't wish to answer. There are no known risks to participation beyond those encountered in everyday life. Your responses will remain confidential and anonymous. Data from this research will be kept under lock and key and reported only as a collective combined total. No one other than the researchers will know your individual answers to this questionnaire.

If you agree to participate in this project, please answer the questions on the questionnaire as best you can. It should take approximately 30 minutes to complete.

If you have any questions about this project, feel free to contact the Principal Investigator on 0721421125.

#### CONSENT

I have read, and I understand the provided information and have had the opportunity to ask questions. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving a reason and without cost. I voluntarily agree to take part in this study.

Participant's sig	gnature		Date	
-------------------	---------	--	------	--

Investigator's signature	Date
mvesugator s signature	

## **APPENDIX 3: MOTHER'S SOCIO-ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONAIRE**

#### a) Socio-economic and demographic aspects (tick appropriately)

1. What is your age or date of birth?

	10-19yrs =1, 20-29yrs =2, 30-39yrs =3 40-49yrs =4
2.	How many pregnancies have you ever carried?
	One $=1$ , Two $=2$ , Three $=3$ , more than three $=4$
3.	What is your marital status?
	Single never married $=1$ , Married $=2$ , Divorced $=3$ ,
	Widowed =4
	(ii) If married what is your partner' age (yrs):
	10-19 =1, 20-29 =2, 30-39 =3, 40-49 =4, >50 =5
	(iii) What is your partner's level of education?
	None =1, Primary =2, Secondary =3, College/tertiary =4
4.	Where do you live? Town centre =1 Slums =2 Outskirts of town =3 Rural =4
5.	Which mode of transport do you use routinely from your house to health facility?
	Walking = 1 Bicycle = 2 Vehicle = 3 Motorbike = 4
6.	How long do you take from your house to the health facility?
	<30  minutes =1, 30 – 60 minutes =2, >1 hrs =4
7.	What is your level of education?
	None =1, Primary =2, Secondary =3, College/tertiary =4

8. What is your religion or which church do you go to?

Protestant =1, Catholic =2, Muslim =3, others =4 specify
9. Do you have any cultural beliefs/practices that are related to maternal and child health? Yes $= 1$ No $= 2$
10. Where do you get money for your daily upkeep?
Salary =1, Small scale business =2, Large scale business =3,
Remittances $=4$ , farming $=5$ , others $=6$ specify
11. What is your average monthly household income (yours and your spouse)
Less than KES $6,000$ =1 More than KES $6,000$ =2

## APPENDIX 4: HEALTHCARE WORKERS CHARACTERISTICS QUESTIONAIRE

### b) Healthcare workers' characteristics

1. What is your age?

1. What is your age?
20-29yrs =1, 30-39yrs =2, 40-49yrs =3, 50-59yrs =4,
2. What's your gender?
Male $=1$ Female $=2$
3. Are you married?
Yes $=1$ No $=2$
4. What is your cadre?
Clinical officer $=1$ , Medical officer $=2$ , Nursing officer $=3$ ,
Nutritionist $\square =4$ , Pharm Tech $\square =5$ , Lab Tech $\square =6$ ,
Others =7 specify
5. What is your basic training institution?
KMTC $=1$ University $=2$ others $=3$
6. What's your highest level of training?
Masters $=1$ BSc $=2$ HND $=3$ Diploma $=4$ Certificate $=5$
7. Do you have training in midwifery?
Yes $=1$ No $=2$
8. Which section do you work in Maternal Child Health?
ANC $=1$ , FP $=2$ , Maternity $=3$ , CWC $=4$ , others $=5$
(ii) For how long have you worked in this section?
0-6 Months $=1$ 6-12months $=2$ >1 yr $=3$
9. How many hours do you work in a day?
8hrs $=1$ >8hrs $=2$

10. How many clients do you se	e in	n a d	day?
--------------------------------	------	-------	------

5-10 =1, 11-20 =2, >20 =3

11. Do you make referrals to other hospitals for either patients or specimens?

No =0	Yes =1
-------	--------

12. What is the reason for the referrals.....

.....

.....

13. Have you had any maternal death in the last one year?

(i)	Yes	=1
-----	-----	----

(ii) If yes how many?.....

No = 0

14. What do you think can be done to improve maternal and child health service quality in this section?

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	 •••••	 •••••

### **APPENDIX 5: SERVICE DELIVER PROCESSES QUESTIONAIRE**

### c) Health services delivery processes

Components received during Antenatal period:

MODIFIED New WHO antenatal care model basic component checklist

Note: Mark the activities carried out as appropriate (Use the closest gestational age

at the time of visit.)

	Yes=1	No=2
Clinical examination		
Hb test		
Obstetric exam: gestational age estimation, uterine height		
Blood pressure taken		
Maternal weight/height		
Rapid syphilis test performed, detection of symptomatic sexually		
transmitted infections		
Blood type and Rh requested		
HIV test		
Malaria test		
Tetanus toxoid given		
Iron/folic acid supplementation provided		
Recommendation for emergencies / hotline for emergencies		
Complete antenatal card		
Urine test for protein		
Instructions for delivery/plan for birth		
Recommendations for lactation/contraception		
Return date		

1. Have you heard about the 4 ANC visit? (explain)

Yes = 1 No= 2

2. How many times have you visit ANC with this pregnancy?

1 =1 2 = 23 =3  $4 + \Box = 4$ 

3. When did you visit ANC for the first time in this pregnancy?

First 3 months of pregnancy $=1$ 4-6 months $=2$ 7-9 months $=3$
4. Were you happy with the way the staff receive you in this hospital?
Yes $=1$ No $=2$
(ii) If no, why
5. Were you satisfied with the services you received? Yes $= 1$ No $= 0$
6. Any additional comments/recommendations (both positive and negative)

# APPENDIX 6: HEALTHCARE STRUCTURAL ASPECTS QUESTIONAIRE

### d) Healthcare structural aspects observation tool

Materials& equipment	ilable	equate nber	quate	narks	Materials& equipment	ilable	equate nber	quate	narks
	Аve	Ad6 nun	Not ade	Rer		Ave	ad6 nun	Not ade	Rer
Laboratory					Fetoscope				
CWC					Speculum set				
Theatre					Baby stethoscope				
AN ward					Linen trolley				
Labor ward					General trolley				
PN ward					Phototherapy unit				
ANC					Autoclave				
FP room					Rescucitaire				
Toilets					BP machine				
Bad cots					Blood warmer				
Oxygen machine					Infant weighing				
					scale				
Exam coaches					Adult weighing				
					scale				
Delivery coach					Ultrasonic Nebulizer				
Fridge					MUAC tape				
Ultrasound					Wheelchair				
Infant radiant warmer					telephone				
Portal lamps/					Suction machine				
Overhead									
Nursery with incubators					stethoscope				
Equipped emergency					Nursing station				
tray									
Personnel									
Name	Available	Adequate number	Not adequate	Remarks	Name	Available	Adequate number	Not adequate	Remarks
Obstetrician/					Nursing Officer				
Gynecologists					(midwife)				
Medical Officers					Nutritionists				
Clinical Officers					Medical Lab Tech				
Nursing Officers					Pharm Tech				
# **APPENDIX 7: KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEW GUIDE**

### **General Information**

These will be conducted with health facility RMNCAH in-charges or health facility RH coordinators or health facility in-charges. Depending on the health facility designated staff responsible for MCH services.

1.	Title	
2.	Role in MCH	
3.	Gender	
4.	Time interview started	
5.	Time interview ended	
6.	Name of the interviewer	

- 1. Can you please tell me about your experience with mothers/clients seeking MCH services and what could be their contribution in MCH service quality?
- 2. What role do you think healthcare workers play in ensuring MCH service quality in the health facility?
- 3. How can the processes of service delivery improve MCH service quality?
- 4. What else can be done to improve maternal and child health service quality in this health facility?

## **APPENDIX 8: PROPOSAL APPROVAL**



#### **APPENDIX 9: ETHIC APPROVAL**



#### **APPENDIX 100: NACOSTI AUTHORIZATION**



# APPENDIX 111: COUNTY APPROVAL

Tel: 254-057-2020105 Fax: 254-057-2023176		County Director of Health, Kisumu. P. O. Box 721-40100,
L-mail: kisumucdh@gmail.com	ALL AND E	KISUMU.
	DEPARTMENT OF HE	ALTH
REF: GN. 133.VOL. 111/511		Date: 25/04/2019
RE: APPROVAL TO	ed. Supts. – Kisumu County	
We are in receipt of your	request for research approval.	
The purpose of this lett Maternal Child Healt Declaration of Free Ma	er is to grant you approval for the st a Services in the Tier 3 Public Hea ternal Child Health Care. (Approval	udy on <b>'Determinant of Quality</b> Ith Facilities of Kisumu after th No MSU/DRPI/MUERC/00655/15
The Department of Healt implementation.	h has reviewed your proposal to conduc	ot the above study and support its
I therefore grant him per	mission to undertake this research	
	COUNTY DIRECTOR	
Alter	OF HEALTH	
Dr. Onyango D. O. County director of Hea Kisumu County	Ith	_
1.		